
 
 
 
 

Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: 25 January 2023 

Time: 4.00pm 

Venue Council Chamber, Hove Town Hall 

Members: Councillors: Moonan (Chair), West (Group Spokesperson), 
Barnett, Brennan, Grimshaw, John, Lewry, O'Quinn and Rainey 
Co-optees: Geoffrey Bowden (Healthwatch), Nora Mzaoui 
(Community & Voluntary Sector), Theresa Mackay (Older People’s 
Council) 

Contact: Giles Rossington 
Senior Policy, Partnerships & Scrutiny Officer 
01273 295514 
giles.rossington@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Electronic agendas can also be accessed through our meetings app available through 
ModernGov: iOS/Windows/Android 
 

This agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 
 

http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/modgov/9nblggh0c7s7#activetab=pivot:overviewtab
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB


AGENDA 
 

PART ONE Page 

 
 

27 APOLOGIES AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

28 MINUTES 7 - 14 

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting held on 23 November 2022 
(copy attached). 

 

 

29 CHAIRS COMMUNICATIONS  

 

30 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following matters raised by members of the public: 

(a) Petitions: to receive any petitions from by members of the public 
by the due date (10 Working Days before); 

(b) Written Questions: to receive any questions submitted by the due 
date of 12 noon on the 19 January 2023 

(c) Deputations: to receive any deputations submitted by the due 
date of 12 noon on the 19 January 2023. 

 

 

31 ITEMS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL  

 

32 MEMBER INVOLVEMENT 15 - 16 

 A written question has been received from Cllr Nancy Platts (copy 
attached) 

 

 

33 SOUTHERN WATER: FLOOD OVERFLOW MANAGEMENT 17 - 32 

 Presentation from Southern water on their plans to improve the 
management of the discharge of sewage into the sea and waterways 
(slides attached). 

 

 

34 SUSSEX HEALTH & CARE: SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT AND 
GOVERNANCE 

33 - 54 

 Presentation on the development of Sussex Health & Care, the local 
Integrated Care System for Sussex (slides attached). 

 

 

35 SUSSEX INTEGRATED CARE STRATEGY 55 - 134 

 Report of the Executive Director, Governance, People & Resources (copy 
attached) 

 

 Contact Officer: Giles Rossington Tel: 01273 295514  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 



36 BHCC HEALTH & ADULT SOCIAL CARE BUDGET PRESSURES 135 - 146 

 Presentation on plans to meet HASC budget pressures 2023-24 (verbal)  
 

37 HEALTHWATCH BRIGHTON & HOVE: CURRENT AND PLANNED 
ACTIVITIES 

147 - 152 

 Presentation by Geoffrey Bowden, Chair of Healthwatch Brighton & Hove, 
on the Healthwatch work programme (copy attached). 

 

 
 
 

 
Date of Publication - Tuesday, 17 January 2023 

 

 



 
 
 
 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made on 
the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be raised 
can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
The closing date for receipt of public questions and deputations for the next meeting is 12 
noon on the fourth working day before the meeting. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
Infra-red hearing aids are available for use during the meeting. If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the receptionist on arrival. 
 
FURTHER INFORMATION 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact Giles Rossington, (01273 
295514, email giles.rossington@brighton-hove.gov.uk) or email 
democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk  
 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website.  At the 
start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being filmed.  You 
should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act 1998.  
Data collected during this web cast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s 
published policy. 
 
Therefore, by entering the meeting room and using the seats in the chamber you are deemed 
to be consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings for the purpose of web casting and/or Member training.  If members of the public 
do not wish to have their image captured, they should sit in the public gallery area. 
 
ACCESS NOTICE 
The Public Gallery is situated on the first floor of the Town Hall and is limited in size but does 
have 2 spaces designated for wheelchair users.  The lift cannot be used in an emergency.  
Evac Chairs are available for self-transfer and you are requested to inform Reception prior to 
going up to the Public Gallery.  For your own safety please do not go beyond the Ground 
Floor if you are unable to use the stairs. 
Please inform staff on Reception of this affects you so that you can be directed to the Council 
Chamber where you can watch the meeting or if you need to take part in the proceedings e.g. 
because you have submitted a public question. 
 
FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by council staff.  
It is vital that you follow their instructions: 

 You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts; 

 Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

 Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further instructions; and 

 Do not re-enter the building until told that it is safe to do so. 

mailto:democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk


 

     

     





1 
 

BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

4.00pm 23 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, HOVE TOWN HALL 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: Councillor Moonan (Chair) 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor West (Group Spokesperson), Barnett, John, Lewry, O'Quinn 
and Rainey 
 
Other Members present: Nora Mzaoui (community & voluntary sector representative), 
Michael Whitty (Older People’s Council), Alan Boyd (Healthwatch)  
 

 
 

PART ONE 
 
 

19 PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 
 
19(a) 
19.1 Apologies were received from Cllrs Grimshaw and Brennan. 
 
19.2 Alan Boyd attended as substitute for Geoffrey Bowden (Healthwatch representative). 
 
19(b) 
19.3 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
19(c) RESOLVED – that the press and public be not excluded from the meeting. 
 
20 MINUTES 
 
20.1 RESOLVED – that the minutes of the 19 October 2022 meeting be agreed as an 

accurate record. 
 
21 CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS 
 
21.11 The Chair gave the following communications: 
 

Firstly, a note about today’s agenda. We were due to take a report on NHSE 
commissioned Trans health services, including specialist services for adults, children & 
young people’s care, and the launch of a new Sussex-wide gender identity service pilot. 
However, NHSE have only recently announced details of the pilot, and there really 
hasn’t been time to either properly inform members of this committee, or the local 
community about the service. In addition, NHSE is currently running a public 

7



 

2 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 23 NOVEMBER 
2022 

consultation on a new gender service for children & young people. This consultation 
runs until December, which means it would not be possible to discuss feedback from 
this at today’s meeting. 

 
I have therefore decided to defer the Trans health item until the January HOSC meeting. 
This will give time for NHS colleagues to draft a proper paper for us, with details of the 
Sussex adult gender pilot and feedback from the children’s service consultation. It will 
also give members of the local community and stakeholder organisations time to use 
HOSC public engagement mechanisms if they choose to do so. I’m sure some of the 
committee have received communications in recent days about the Sussex gender pilot; 
and I am committed to giving people every opportunity possible to make their views 
known to the HOSC. 

 
Moving on to other issues, the council has launched a Cost of Living hub on our website 
to help residents who may struggle this winter. You can find out what benefits and 
emergency help you could get, what financial advice is available, as well as some of the 
support and activities you can access to help improve your physical and mental health. 
There’s also a Warm Welcome Directory that provides information about free indoor 
activities and places you can go to across the city.   

 
It’s important it is to do what you can to protect yourself this winter. This includes getting 
your Covid-19 booster and free flu vaccine if you’re eligible. Both now include everyone 
who’s 50 or over, as well as people who are more at risk and those that live or work with 
people who are vulnerable.  Flu jabs can be booked with your GP or pharmacy. Autumn 
boosters can be booked online or by calling 119, and to make it even easier for you, you 
can also now walk in at a number of locations across the city 

 
Next Thursday is World AIDs Day. Ahead of the day, community events are taking place 
this Sunday at Dorset Gardens Methodist Church, and a memorial quilt will be on 
display in Jubilee Library throughout next week. Then a candlelight vigil will be held at 
6pm on Thursday 1 December in New Steine Gardens by the AIDs memorial. 

 
Finally, I’m sure members will recall that we asked the Chief Executive of Southern 
Water to attend the July HOSC meeting to talk about the discharge of untreated sewage 
into waterways and the sea. The CEO was unable to attend but Dr Nick Mills, Head of 
the Storm Overflow Task Force, did present to the committee. I’m sure we all welcomed 
Nick’s contributions, but myself and other members were nonetheless keen to hear from 
the new CEO at a future meeting. I had ongoing concerns about water quality, which 
have in fact been borne out despite assurances given in July. I also have had a number 
of concerned queries from members of the public on this issue, as I am sure other 
committee members have. I therefore invited the Chief Executive of Southern Water, 
Lawrence Gosden, to attend the January HOSC. 

 
I am very disappointed to report to you that Southern Water’s response is that a 
representative of the company will attend but that it will not be the CEO. I will therefore 
on behalf of this committee and concerned residents of Brighton and Hove express my 
serious disappointment to Mr Gosden and again invite him to attend in person and 
explain the ongoing releases of sewage into our local sea water and the impact this is 
having on the health of our residents. 

 

8



 

3 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 23 NOVEMBER 
2022 

21.2 Cllr West added that he too was disappointed that the Chief Executive of Southern 
Water has declined an invitation to attend a HOSC meeting. He noted that NHS Trust 
Chief Executives found the time to attend HOSC meetings, and that no attendance by 
Southern Water would give the impression that the company did not take the health 
impacts of its actions seriously. 

 
22 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 
 
22.1 There were no public questions. 
 
23 MEMBER INVOLVEMENT 
 
23.1 There were no member questions. 
 
24 SUSSEX INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM (ICS): PRESENTATION 
 
24.1 This item was introduced by Lisa Emery, NHS Sussex Chief Transformation, Innovation 

& Digital Officer. Ms Emery outlined to members the purpose and contents of the 
Sussex Integrated Care Strategy. 

 
24.2 Cllr West thanked Ms Emery for her presentation, noting that it would be helpful to have 

a presentation on the Integrated Care System as a whole at a later date. Ms Emery 
responded that NHS Sussex would be happy to arrange something, potentially with a 
focus on place arrangements. 

 
24.3 In response to a question from the Chair on plans to consult with HOSCs on service 

change, Ms Emery responded that NHS bodies will engage appropriately, either at a 
system or a place level. Lola Banjoko, NHS Sussex Managing Director, Brighton & 
Hove, added that no significant change plans are currently under consideration, but that 
there will be engagement with the HOSC should plans be developed. 

 
24.4 Alan Boyd offered to share slides from a recent presentation to Healthwatch from the 

Chair of NHS Sussex on the development of the Sussex Integrated Care System. Mr 
Boyd also noted that a relatively low number of people had responded to a Sussex-wide 
consultation on the Integrated Care Strategy, and that it might be helpful for NHS 
Sussex to speak to Healthwatch about future engagement plans. Ms Emery responded 
that she was happy to explore this opportunity. 

 
24.5 Michael Whitty asked a question about numbers of patients currently experiencing 

delays in their discharge from hospital. Rob Persey, BHCC Executive Director, Health & 
Adult Social Care, responded by saying that partners are working on this issue. 
However, the local market is very challenged, and it is difficult to find timely packages 
for everyone who needs them. It is hard to give a figure as this is constantly changing, 
but although the figure is higher than anyone would like it to be, there are not hundreds 
of people experiencing delays. The longest waits do tend to be for the most complex 
care packages. 

 
24.6 In response to a question from the Chair about how the Integrated Care Strategy would 

be dealt with in terms of Council governance, Mr Persey told the committee that it will 
not be possible to consider the draft strategy at a Health & Wellbeing Board (HWB) 

9



 

4 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 23 NOVEMBER 
2022 

meeting due to timings, although the HWB will look in detail at the agreed strategy at its 
March 2023 meeting. The Integrated Care System Member Working Group will consider 
the ICS and it may also be possible to report the strategy for information to the 
December 2022 Council meeting.  

 
24.7 The Chair told members that the session had been helpful, but that she would seek a 

full presentation on the development of the Integrated Care System at the next HOSC 
meeting (25 January 2023). Mr Persey responded that partners would be happy to 
present. It is important to understand that this is a process of building partnerships over 
a number of years, rather than about what is happening at a single point in time. The 
Chair acknowledged this point, but said that the committee would nonetheless be 
interested in the processes being followed to develop this partnership working. 

 
25 TRANS HEALTHCARE: SPECIALISED SERVICES 
 
25.1 This item was postponed until a later date. 
 
26 CERVICAL AND BREAST SCREENING AND HUMAN PAPILLOMAVIRUS (HPV) 

VACCINATION 
 
26.1 This item was presented by Sarah Morgan, NHS England Screening & Immunisation 

Lead (Surrey & Sussex); Nicola Rosenberg, BHCC Consultant in Public Health; and 
Wendy Young, NHS Sussex Programme Director, Cancer & Planned Care. 

 
26.2 Ms Morgan told the committee that screening was the testing of a non-symptomatic 

population for specific conditions. There are national screening programmes for breast 
and cervical cancer. There is a clear deprivation link to screening, with more deprived 
communities on average less likely to come forward to be screened and also more likely 
to experience cancers. The Covid epidemic has had a negative impact on screening, 
delaying appointment and leading to the later diagnosis of cancers. Services are 
working hard to get back to pre-Covid levels and to further improve screening take-up. 

 
26.3 In response to a question from Cllr O’Quinn on age limits for screening, Ms Morgan told 

members that age-limits are set nationally and are evidence-based (e.g. breast 
screening in women over 70 is significantly less accurate due to natural changes in body 
tissue associated with ageing that are picked up as potentially problematic by the 
screening tests). The age limits are under constant review. It is also important to see 
screening as just one tool to identify cancers, alongside self-checking. 

 
26.4 Cllr O’Quinn asked whether there was a local issue with testing hesitancy as there has 

historically been with vaccine hesitancy. Ms Rosenberg responded that there has 
historically been less hesitancy around testing than vaccination. With the latter, there 
has been progress in recent years, with good take up of Covid jabs. There is work to do 
on childhood vaccination, but with tailored communication, there is the opportunity to 
increase take-up. 

 
26.5 Michael Whitty noted that the 2021 census identifies a growing population of older 

people in Brighton & Hove, and stressed the need to have communications tailored for 
this audience. Ms Morgan agreed and assured the committee that this was being taken 
forward. 

10



 

5 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 23 NOVEMBER 
2022 

 
26.6 Cllr Rainey asked why regular breast screening is only offered to women from the age of 

50. Ms Morgan responded that screening is offered to women under 50 in certain 
situations: e.g. where there is a family history of cancers. The lower age limit reflects the 
fact that screening tends to be less accurate in populations with low disease prevalence. 
This is under constant review. 

 
26.7 Cllr John asked about deprivation, particularly in the context of cervical screening rates. 

Ms Rosenberg responded that there is a deprivation link to all screening, with access a 
major issue for some communities. Ms Young added that commissioners used mapping 
tools to identify the best locations for the mobile screening sites. It is important to 
consider the actual availability of public transport as well as distance from a screening 
site. Ms Rosenberg noted that links with deprivation go beyond simple issues of access. 
For example, people who suffer from anxiety may be less likely to attend screening, and 
anxiety is most prevalent in deprived communities. 

 
26.8 Cllr Barnett noted that there may be particular issues with some black and minority 

ethnic communities accessing screening, for instance in Hangleton & Knoll. Ms 
Rosenberg agreed, stressing to members that a bespoke approach to each community 
was required to identify what works for them. This may be around providing translated 
information, about building trust with a community, about using peer educators and so 
on. There is learning from the successful community outreach for Covid vaccinations to 
draw upon here. Ms Rosenberg offered to speak to the Chief Executive of the Hangleton 
& Knoll Project to see what more might be possible in terms of getting public health 
information to local communities. 

 
26.9 Alan Boyd told members that Healthwatch had published a report on screening which he 

was happy to share with the committee. 
 
26.10 In response to a question from Mr Boyd about initial breast screening appointments, Ms 

Morgan informed members that women will be called up between their 50th and 53rd 
birthdays, based on the locality of their GP practices (i.e. practice lists are taken in turn). 
There is no evidence that delaying screening until the 53rd birthday increases population 
level risk, although it is important that women are aware of breast cancer symptoms and 
check for them. 

 
26.11 In reply to a question from Mr Boyd about breast cancer in men, Ms Morgan told the 

committee that there was no programme for male screening as the condition is relatively 
rare. Ms Rosenberg added that there is some comms around male risk. 

 
26.12 Nora Mzaoui asked about screening for women who are not registered with a GP. Ms 

Morgan acknowledged that this is a limitation of screening programmes. Ms Rosenberg 
added that services do work directly with specific communities with low GP registration 
rates: e.g. Gypsies & Travellers and the homeless community. 

 
26.13 The Chair asked whether it was possible for people to choose to use a screening centre 

other than Preston Park. Ms Morgan replied that this is possible, although the process 
could be made easier. 

 

11



 

6 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 23 NOVEMBER 
2022 

26.14 In response to a question from the Chair on fixed Vs mobile screening sites, Ms Morgan 
responded that fixed sites are accessible for people with disabilities. Mobile sites may 
offer more convenient access, although there is down-time to be factored in when a 
mobile unit is moved. Ms Rosenberg added that innovative ways to improve access are 
being considered: e.g. taxi vouchers. 

 
26.15 The Chair enquired why local screening rates have been relatively low for a number of 

years. Ms Rosenberg responded that Brighton & Hove has a highly mobile population, 
with large numbers of students and people resident for a relatively short period. When 
this is accounted for, city screening rates are similar to comparators.  

 
26.16 The Chair thanked all the presenters for their contributions. 
 
26.17 RESOLVED – that the report be noted. 
 
 
27 SUSSEX WINTER PLAN 2022-23 
 
27.1 This item was presented by Claudia Griffith, NHS Sussex Chief Delivery Officer; Lola 

Banjoko, NHS Sussex Managing Director (Brighton & Hove); and Rob Persey, BHCC 
Executive Director, Health & Adult Social Care. Dr Jane Padmore, Chief Executive, 
Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SPFT); and Dr Andy Heeps, Deputy Chief 
Executive, University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust (UHSx), were also on the 
call to answer member queries. 

 
27.2 Ms Griffith told the committee that the Sussex system faced very challenging 

circumstances this winter, with the usual winter pressures exacerbated by the need to 
recover planned care activity lost through the Covid pandemic and by the additional 
disruption likely to be caused by industrial action. However, there is a robust system-
wide plan in place, with positive buy-in from all partners. Key areas of focus include 
improving ambulance response times, ensuring timely discharge from acute settings, 
and supporting the most frail in order to reduce admissions into hospital. Additional 
funding for social care announced in the Autumn Statement is to be welcomed. 

 
27.3 In response to a question from Cllr O’Quinn on strikes, Dr Heeps told members that 

detailed planning had been done. It is important to stress that the dispute is not between 
UHSx and the Royal College of Nursing (RCN), but between the RCN and Government. 
The Trust continues to work very well with RCN. Emergency care will not be impacted 
by strike action, and while planned care will be hit, the Trust is confident it will receive 
advance notification of any industrial action which will enable it to work to minimise the 
impact on patients. Dr Padmore reported a similar picture at SPFT, noting that the Trust 
has communicated its support to all staff whether or not they are engaged in industrial 
action. 

 
27.4 In response to a question from Cllr O’Quinn about staff retention at 111, Ms Griffith 

responded that there has been a historical problem in retaining relatively low paid 111 
staff. There is ongoing work with the South East Coast Ambulance Trust (SECAmb) 
about this and SECAmb does have a forward plan to improve staffing. 

 

12



 

7 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 23 NOVEMBER 
2022 

27.5 Cllr John asked about plans to deal with the impacts of cold weather, particularly given 
that many may be unable to afford to heat their homes. She noted the Somerset 
prescribing warmth pilot as a possible model to be explored locally. Dr Heeps 
responded by saying that the situation was currently relatively stable, with unseasonally 
warm weather and the most recent Covid cycle receding somewhat. The system is 
prepared to use acute capacity across Sussex to manage demand when and if required. 
Mr Persey added that the council would shortly be issuing a directory of local warm 
spaces. Work was also underway to target support to the most vulnerable communities. 
In addition, public health and NHS providers are working together to support care 
homes: e.g. by providing additional care in homes to reduce admissions to hospital. 

 
27.6 In response to a query from Cllr Rainey around gritting plans, Mr Persey told members 

that the detail of local planning to deal with icy weather was in the Brighton & Hove Cold 
Weather Plan. The Cold Weather Plan dovetails with the system winter plan, providing 
more granular information about planning across a range of services, including 
preparations for extreme weather, support for rough sleepers and so on. 

 
27.7 Cllr Rainey asked a question about schemes to reduce mental health admissions. Dr 

Padmore responded, telling the committee that short term interventions at home were 
being used to reduce admissions. There was also work ongoing to improve the flow 
through acute mental health services, particularly in terms of ensuring timely discharge 
from hospital into appropriate care. Council adult social care services and local 
community & voluntary sector organisations are key partners in this work. 

 
27.8 In answer to a question from Cllr Rainey about accessing mental health support, Dr 

Padmore replied that work is carried out to advertise how to access services. However, 
more does need to be done: e.g. closer working with 111 to ensure that callers are not 
advised to present at A&E if there is a more appropriate alternative. Mr Persey added 
that a local Mental Health Needs Assessment has recently been published. This is a 
significant piece of work and will be used to raise awareness of mental health and of the 
significant challenges we face locally. 

 
27.9 The Chair asked a question about the adequacy of local GP services, given the paucity 

of GPs, particularly in the most deprived parts of the city. Ms Griffith responded that 
there are problems with people being able to access appointments, particularly face to 
face. Additional investment is being provided to improve face to face capacity, to provide 
better telephone access, and to better understand demand for primary care. The 
recently opened Urgent Treatment Centre and investment in community pharmacy 
services will also help. Ms Banjoko added that there is an important role to be played by 
the community & voluntary sector here, with the potential to better use community 
assets to provide primary care and to target community support to people who need to 
attend primary care frequently. 

 
27.10 The Chair asked how the inevitable tensions between health and adult social care 

concerning hospital discharge into care settings were being managed. Mr Persey replied 
that delays to timely discharge remain a national and local concern. However, 
relationships have improved considerably over recent years, with a them Vs us dynamic 
having been replaced with a mutual recognition of the challenges faced by each sector 
and a commitment to work together to improve outcomes. This is not just about 
discharge; avoiding admissions is as important.  

13



 

8 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 23 NOVEMBER 
2022 

 
27.11 The Chair thanked all the presenters for their contributions. 
 
27.12 RESOLVED – that the report be noted. 
 
 

 
The meeting concluded at Time Not Specified 

 
Signed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair 

Dated this day of  
 

14



Agenda Item 32 

 

 

Member Questions: Question from Cllr Nancy Platts 

 

What is the assessed impact of public toilet closures on the successful 

delivery of the Council’s Health & Wellbeing Strategy? 

 

15



16



Clean Rivers and Seas Task Force
SMACF January 2023

17



§ Southern Water wants to improve water 
quality understanding

§ Two water quality testing buoys were 
launched into the sea in the summer 2022 – 
one off Tankerton shore and one off Hayling 
Island

§ These are 12-month pilots
§ Data will be publicly available online once 

calibration is complete

Water quality testing buoys

2

18



Beachbuoy improvements
Beachbuoy (southernwater.co.uk)

3

Summary of improvements

§ Dynamic modelling 

§ Location pop ups

§ (New) outfall pop ups

§ UX changes

• Listened to feedback from customers and 
stakeholders

• New functionality provides a more accurate 
indication of whether a release actually 
impacts the bathing water. 

• This feature uses the location of the outfall, 
duration of the spill and the tide conditions to 
determine whether the release impacts the 
bathing water or not.

• Data still available in the release table

19

https://www.southernwater.co.uk/water-for-life/our-bathing-waters/beachbuoy


Ø Pilot project mapping individual outfalls in an area. 
Brighton and Hove is one of the chosen areas for the 
pilot. 

Ø Several outfalls, not all convey storm releases and 
not all are owned by Southern Water

Ø Detail individual purpose, ownership and how to find 
more information and from whom (e.g. Southern 
Water, Local Authority, Environment Agency etc). 

Ø Information packs will be shared with all stakeholders 
and published on our website. In addition, signs will 
(where physically possible) be put up

Ø Aiming for bathing water season this year (May 2023)

Outfall awareness programme

4

20



Reducing storm overflows

5

21



What are storm overflows?

6

22



Clean Rivers and Seas Task Force

7

§ The task force is a dedicated team that is central to Southern Water’s drive towards significantly 
reducing the use of storm overflows by 2030, and managing catchment flows. 

§ The establishment of the task force indicates Southern Water’s commitment to ambitious targets and is 
a highly important workstream within the business.

§ The task force is responsible for delivering at least six pathfinder projects over the next two years. The 
task force will seek to establish strong partnerships to ensure their success. 

§ In parallel, we will build and deliver a regional plan to reduce storm releases between now and 2030.

§ Weblink - Storm Overflows (southernwater.co.uk)

23

https://www.southernwater.co.uk/our-performance/storm-overflows


There are broadly 3 main types of intervention to 
reduce flooding and storm overflow use:

8

1. Source control (removing and slowing the flow of rain water)
Rainwater harvesting, Permeable paving, Green roofs, Soakaways 
(includes tree pits), Rain garden (swales), Planters

2. Optimisation of existing infrastructure
Optimisation, tweaking of connected systems and interface, Different 
mechanical and electrical equipment (e.g. pumps), Improvements in 
pumping station and storm tank use and control, Smart network control with 
increased digitalisation

3. Build bigger infrastructure (building larger pipes, pumping 
stations, etc.)
Wetlands treatment (Groundwater), Sewer lining/sealing (Groundwater), 
Larger sewers, Large storm tanks, Large treatment works

24



Working in partnership

9

§ We want to work in collaboration with a range of 
partners at all levels and across industries to achieve this. 

§ We also want to promote the simple actions that everyone 
can do to help such as installing water butts to recycle 
rain water or reducing the amount of pavement in 
gardens.

What might the solutions look like? 

25



10

26



Key updates/progress

11

§ Bathing water season report
§ Secretary of State letter 
§ Infiltration Reduction Plan
§ Deal, Margate, Swalecliffe, Sandown and Fairlight Technical and Summary 

reports published
§ Early interventions in delivery
§ SuDS in schools partnership with the Department for Education; £1.6m project
§ Insight programme to begin to ensure we’re listening to our customers
§ Further partnerships being explored
§ Jargon busting to make educational materials accessible to all, such as our FAQ 

document

27

https://www.southernwater.co.uk/media/7798/clean_rivers_seas_task_force_report_2022_final.pdf
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/the-news-room/the-media-centre/2022/october/southern-water-shares-improvement-progress-and-plans-with-secretary-of-state
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/our-story/infiltration-reduction-plan
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/our-performance/storm-overflows/latest-news-reports-and-updates
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/the-news-room/the-media-centre/2022/november/scores-of-schools-help-southern-water-slow-the-flow-of-rainwater-across-playgrounds-and-classroom-roofs-as-part-of-16-million-project
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/our-performance/storm-overflows/what-are-storm-overflows
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/our-performance/storm-overflows/what-are-storm-overflows


What can we do to 
protect water quality

12

28



Protecting water quality

13

 Make sure that dog faeces is always cleared away both on the beach and in the town as the 
highway gullies drains to the coast and will impact bathing water quality.

 Make sure that gulls are not attracted to the beach by litter and by being deliberately 
fed. Markers for gull faeces are found in all samples where detailed analyses has been 
carried out.

 Make sure that all household appliances are connected to the right sewer (foul not surface 
water) ConnectRight.  Misconnection of household appliances is a major sources of 
contamination where there are separate foul and surface water systems.

 Make sure that only the 3 P’s (pee, poo, paper) are flushed down the toilet (Unflushables - 
City to Sea - The things you really shouldn't flush!).  Flushing cotton buds, wet wipes, 
nappies etc down the toilet causes blockages which may then cause the system to overflow.  
In addition, fats should never be washed down into the sewer system as this also causes 
blockages.

29

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.connectright.org.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7CNicole.McNab%40southernwater.co.uk%7C5d1d64e3884f4c52cca408daef10c589%7C64869c6e38fc4710aec4b3328daec580%7C1%7C0%7C638085152550030160%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yNddCNQW1ZH%2FxH8WmrjvuLPZBwYLSBwlwC29ZWodlMc%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.citytosea.org.uk%2Fcampaign%2Funflushables%2F&data=05%7C01%7CNicole.McNab%40southernwater.co.uk%7C5d1d64e3884f4c52cca408daef10c589%7C64869c6e38fc4710aec4b3328daec580%7C1%7C0%7C638085152550030160%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=DNWXYSL39VKGBMYjqfg%2FeaogTPeOpvllPBio2Jw68SI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.citytosea.org.uk%2Fcampaign%2Funflushables%2F&data=05%7C01%7CNicole.McNab%40southernwater.co.uk%7C5d1d64e3884f4c52cca408daef10c589%7C64869c6e38fc4710aec4b3328daec580%7C1%7C0%7C638085152550030160%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=DNWXYSL39VKGBMYjqfg%2FeaogTPeOpvllPBio2Jw68SI%3D&reserved=0


Communities slowing the flow of rainwater

14

§ Let nature do what nature does best 
§ Avoid building over gardens, tarmacking driveways, building extensions that 

connect to the foul sewer
§ Collect rainwater or slow it down – slow-drain water butts, planters
§ Encourage green space development – parks with green areas, not concrete
§ Work with us – where are the problems, inform us about suspected pollutions
§ Learn about the wastewater network

30



Questions

15

31



32



Brighton & Hove
Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee

25th January 2023

System Development & Governance

33



Why we need to change
We know people are not always getting the support, treatment and care they need at the time they 
need it in the most appropriate place. This is because of a number of factors:

Growing and ageing population
ØThe growth of people over-85 group is expected to increase between 32% and 42% by 2030. 

Health inequalities
ØThe poorest and most deprived people are more likely to be in poor health, have a lower life 

expectancy and have a long-term condition or disability. 

Disjointed experience and care
ØServices are not always joined up, which is confusing and frustrating for people and can lead to 

unnecessary delays in care.

Impact of the pandemic
ØWe need to reduce the waiting times that have increased over the last two years

Limited resources
ØWe need to make best use of workforce, expertise, estate and funding.
ØWe need to grow, support and get the best out of our workforce

34



Introduction – Collaborating at scale (Sussex) 
for the benefit of ‘Place’, (Brighton & Hove) 

There are many benefits of collaborating at a Sussex-level for local, place-based communities, namely:

• Some of the challenges at Place are best addressed by working at scale across Sussex e.g. 
workforce and digital and data solutions 

• The integrated care strategy, sets out how the wider health needs of the local population will be met. 
This has been informed by Brighton and Hove’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) and 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy Increasing interdependencies between working teams and 
organisations means that local solutions to problems can be elevated when focused around a 
cohesive strategic purpose

• By collaborating across a wider footprint, organisations can pool their insight and data on local 
populations, develop a common improvement methodology and share learning to address 
unwarranted variation.

• Collaborative working offers the opportunity to maximise economies of scale and make the best use 
of collective resources.

• Collaboration can offer greater resilience across systems and better management of system-wide 
capacity pressures, particularly pressing workforce challenges, with joint initiatives to improve staff 
recruitment and retention such as shared training opportunities, leadership development programmes 
and additional support for staff health and wellbeing.

35



How we are responding and working in partnership
• It is widely recognised that health and care organisations need to work closer together to 

address the challenges and make the improvements necessary for local people. 

• Health and care organisations across Sussex have increasingly worked in partnership over 
the last few years and have made significant improvements:

Ø Strong partnership working across health and care, Voluntary Community Sector and 
our communities including carers

Ø Collective response to COVID

Ø Improvements in how services have been commissioned

Ø Improvements in quality and performance of organisations and services

Ø Improvements in financial management

We now have an opportunity to take our system development further

36



Statutory Framework for Integrated 
Care Systems

Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) are partnerships of organisations that come together to plan and deliver joined up health and care 
services, and to improve the lives of people who live and work in their area.  Following the Health and Care Act (2022), 42 ICSs were 
established across England on a statutory basis on 1 July 2022. In Sussex, the ICS is referred to as the Sussex Health and Care 
System.

Each ICS will include:

Ø an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) – a statutory committee jointly formed between the NHS Integrated Care Board and all 
upper-tier local authorities that fall within the ICS area. The ICP brings together a broad alliance of partners concerned with 
improving the care, health and wellbeing of the population, with membership determined locally. The ICP is responsible for 
producing an integrated care strategy on how to meet the health and wellbeing needs of the population in the ICS area. In 
Sussex, the ICP is called the Sussex Health and Care Assembly.

Ø an Integrated Care Board (ICB) – a statutory NHS organisation responsible for developing a plan for meeting the health needs 
of the population, managing the NHS budget and arranging for the provision of health services in the ICS area. This is called 
NHS Sussex.

Ø local authorities in the ICS area, which are responsible for social care and public health functions as well as other vital 
services for local people and businesses.

Ø within each ICS, place-based partnerships lead the detailed design and delivery of integrated services across their localities 
and neighbourhoods. The partnerships involve the NHS, local councils, community and voluntary organisations, local residents, 
people who use services, their carers and representatives and other community partners with a role in supporting the health 
and wellbeing of the population.

Ø provider collaboratives bring providers together to achieve the benefits of working at scale across multiple places and one or 
more ICSs, to improve quality, efficiency and outcomes and address unwarranted variation and inequalities in access and 
experience across different providers.

37



The purpose of Integrated Care Systems
The purpose of the Sussex Health and Care System is to bring partner organisations together to:
Ø improve outcomes in population health and healthcare
Ø tackle inequalities in outcomes, experience and access
Ø enhance productivity and value for money
Ø help the NHS support broader social and economic development.
Collaborating as a Health and Care System will help health organisations to tackle complex challenges, 
including:
Ø improving the health of children and young people
Ø supporting people to stay well and independent
Ø acting sooner to help those with preventable conditions
Ø supporting those with long-term conditions or mental health issues
Ø caring for those with multiple needs as populations age
Ø getting the best from collective resources so people get care as quickly as possible.

For people living in Brighton & Hove, this will mean that working in this way will:
• Enable everyone to access the care they need when they need it … waiting less
• Focus on improving the health of our children and young people … starting well
• Better support those with long-term conditions and multiple needs … living well
• Help people to stay well and independent for as long as possible … ageing well

38



The Sussex Health and Care System 
(1 of 2)

The Sussex Health and Care System as it is known, covers the geographical footprint of the three local 
authorities in Brighton & Hove, East Sussex and West Sussex, with a population of 1.7 million people.

The four Statutory Partners in the Sussex Health & Care System are:
Ø NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board
Ø Brighton & Hove City Council
Ø East Sussex County Council
Ø West Sussex County Council

The seven NHS Provider Partners in the Sussex Health & Care System are:
Ø East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust
Ø Queen Victoria Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Ø South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
Ø Surrey and Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust
Ø Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust
Ø Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Ø University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust

39

https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/
https://www.esht.nhs.uk/
https://www.qvh.nhs.uk/
https://www.secamb.nhs.uk/
https://www.surreyandsussex.nhs.uk/
https://www.sussexcommunity.nhs.uk/
https://www.sussexpartnership.nhs.uk/
https://www.uhsussex.nhs.uk/


The Sussex Health and Care System 
(2 of 2)
The Primary Care Partners in the Sussex Health & Care System are:
Ø 33 GP Practices in 6 Primary Care Networks and 53 Pharmacies in Brighton & Hove
Ø 54 GP Practices in 12 Primary Care Networks and 97 Pharmacies in East Sussex
Ø 75 GP Practices in 20 Primary Care Networks and 150 Pharmacies in West Sussex

 
A wide  range of other Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise Partners  are also  involved  in 
providing health and care services in Sussex.

In Sussex a conscious decision has been  taken  to  replace  the  three  letter acronyms  in  the Health & 
Care Act with names that are more descriptive of the purpose of each component part of the proposed 
new governance arrangements in Sussex:

Ø The ICS is known as the Sussex Health & Care System or ‘the system’
Ø The ICP is known as the Sussex Health & Care Assembly 
Ø The ICB is known as NHS Sussex

40



Sussex Health & Care Assembly – core 
purpose 
The Sussex Health & Care Assembly is jointly established by NHS Sussex, Brighton & Hove 
City Council, East Sussex County Council and West Sussex County Council as a Joint 
Committee in accordance with the Constitutions of each statutory organisation.

Core purpose: to agree the strategic direction and facilitate joint action across a broad 
alliance of organisations to improve the outcomes, equality of access and patient experience of 
health and care services for all communities across Sussex.  

Key decisions made by the Sussex Health & Care Assembly include:
• approval of the integrated care strategy for Sussex, built from the three health and wellbeing 

strategies for each of our places

The Sussex Health & Care Assembly will meet in public at least two times per year and will 
be chaired by the Chair of NHS Sussex, with the meeting administration provided by NHS 
Sussex.

The conclusions from each meeting of the Sussex Health & Care Assembly will be reported to 
NHS Sussex and the Health & Wellbeing Board of each local authority.

Terms of reference for the Sussex Health & Care Assembly

41

https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.sussex.ics.nhs.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2Fsites%2F9%2F2022%2F07%2FSx-Health-and-Care-Assembly-ToR.docx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK


Sussex Health & Care Assembly - 
membership

The membership of 
the Sussex Health & 
Care Assembly 
reflects the partners 
in the Sussex Health 
& Care System.

Members Role 

 3 x NHS Sussex Members  Chair, NHS Sussex
Chief Executive Officer, NHS Sussex
Chief Delivery Officer, NHS Sussex

3 x Local Government Members*

* To be supported by Local Authority Officer as appropriate

Chair, Brighton & Hove Health & Wellbeing Board
Chair, East Sussex Health & Wellbeing Board 
Chair, West Sussex Health & Wellbeing Board 

3 x Place Executive Members  Lead Executive, Brighton & Hove Health & Care 
Partnership 
Lead Executive, East Sussex Health & Care Partnership
Lead Executive, West Sussex Health & Care Partnership

3 x Place Clinical Members  Lead Clinician, Brighton & Hove Health & Care Partnership
Lead Clinician, East Sussex Health & Care Partnership
Lead Clinician, West Sussex Health & Care Partnership

3 x Voluntary, Community & Social 
Enterprise Members*

VCSE Member, Brighton & Hove
VCSE Member, East Sussex
VCSE Member, West Sussex

3 x Independent Health and Social Care 
Champion Members 

Chief Executive, Healthwatch Brighton & Hove
Chief Executive, Healthwatch East Sussex
Chief Executive, Healthwatch West Sussex

3 x University Members  Vice Chancellor, University of Brighton
Vice Chancellor, University of Chichester
Vice Chancellor, University of Sussex

3 x Specialist Members Further Education Member
Housing Member
Local Enterprise Member

42



Sussex Integrated Care Strategy
Section 116ZB of the Health & Care Act confers a responsibility upon the Sussex Health & Care Assembly to 
develop an ‘integrated care strategy’ for our whole population using best available evidence and data, covering 
health and social care (both children’s and adult’s social care), and addressing the wider determinants of health and 
wellbeing. The strategy sets out how the assessed needs of our population are to be met. The strategy is focused 
on: 

• helping people live more independent, healthier lives for longer
• taking a holistic view of people’s interactions with services across the system and the different pathways 

within it
• addressing inequalities in health and wellbeing outcomes, experiences and access to health services
• improving the wider social determinants that drive these inequalities, including employment, housing, 

education environment, and reducing offending
• improving the life chances and health outcomes of babies, children and young people
• improving people’s overall wellbeing and preventing ill-health

It has four key priorities as enablers to deliver the above, which includes:
– Joined-up community working
– Maximising the power of partnerships
– Improving the use of digital technology and information 
– Growing and supporting our workforce

In consultation with local partners, the NHS Sussex will produce a joint forward plan (five-year lifetime and updated 
annually) for how NHS services will be delivered to meet local needs.

43



NHS Sussex – core purpose (1 of 2)
NHS Sussex took on the functions of the three Sussex Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) on 1 July 2022, 
as well as a broader strategic responsibility for overseeing joined-up health and care delivery across Sussex.

Core purpose: to agree the strategic priorities and resource allocation for all NHS organisations in 
Sussex, and then lead the improvement and integration of high-quality health and care services for all 
communities across Sussex.  

Key decisions made by NHS Sussex will include:
Ø approval of the NHS Sussex five-year delivery plan to address the prioritised health needs and integrated 

care strategy agreed by the Sussex Health & Care Assembly
Ø approval of the strategic commissioning arrangements for acute, community health, mental health, primary 

care and urgent care services in Sussex
Ø approval of the resource allocation for each NHS provider of acute, community health, mental health, 

primary care and urgent care services in Sussex
Ø approval of major system-wide investment programmes to integrate and transform health and care services 

across Sussex
Ø constructive support and challenge of the NHS Sussex Chief Executive Officer and Executive Committee 

on the actions being taken to deliver the strategic objectives and financial performance of NHS Sussex

NHS Sussex will meet in public at least six times per year and will be chaired by the Chair of NHS Sussex.

NHS Sussex will be supported by five Board Assurance Committees and an Executive Committee

44



NHS Sussex – core purpose (2 of 2)

45



1 Duty to promote NHS Constitution 8 Duty to promote innovation

2 Duty as to effectiveness, efficiency 
etc

9 Duty in respect of research

3 Duty as to improvement in quality 
of services

10 Duty to promote education and 
training

4 Duties as to reducing inequalities 11 Duty to promote integration

5 Duty to promote involvement of 
each patient

12 Duty to have regard to wider effect 
of decisions

6 Duty as to patient choice 13 Duties as to climate change etc

7 Duty to obtain appropriate advice

NHS Sussex – statutory duties

46



Sussex Health & Care System 
Functions and Decisions Map

47



Principles informing how NHS Sussex 
will work at and with “place”
Ø The three place-based Health & Care Partnerships in Sussex are collaborative and non-statutory arrangements 

where all the organisations responsible for planning commissioning and delivering health and care services for the 
populations in that geographical area work together.

Ø In collaborating at place, individual statutory organisations are responsible for agreeing decisions relating to their 
budgets and services according to their existing practice and processes.  

Ø The Joint Strategic Needs Assessments and the Health and Wellbeing Strategies agreed through the three Health 
and Wellbeing Boards set the evidence base and strategic framework within which priorities at place are identified.

Ø Place-based planning, commissioning and delivery will be focussed on a clear scope of services aimed at 
integrating care, improving health and reducing health inequalities.  Wider partners in the voluntary, community, 
social enterprise (VCSE) and independent care sector, and Borough and District Councils where applicable, will 
be engaged to mobilise and support the best use of the resources collectively available.

Ø At a pan-ICS level, the Sussex Health and Care Assembly will be responsible for producing the Integrated Care 
Strategy for the system. This high level strategy will reflect the priorities in, and be built from, the three Health and 
Wellbeing Strategies.

Ø NHS Sussex is required to develop and implement a joint forward plan that delivers the Assembly’s Integrated 
Care Strategy. The principle of subsidiarity is paramount – NHS Sussex’s joint forward plan will be implemented 
through the three place-based Health and Care Partnerships, unless there is collective agreement that it makes 
more sense to deliver an element at the pan-Sussex level.  NHS Sussex will align resources and management 
capacity to support the three place-based Health and Care Partnerships to implement the joint forward plan.

Ø Effective delivery at place therefore requires the full involvement of local authority partners in the development of 
NHS Sussex’s Delivery Plan and other key related decisions before those decisions are taken by the NHS Sussex 
Board or its executive.

48



Brighton & Hove Health & Care 
Partnership

The composition of each place-based Health & Care Partnership will vary according to the needs of the local population and the partners 
involved in delivering health and care services in that geography.   However, each place-based partnership should be set up to meet the 
following requirements:

Ø A Lead Executive 
Ø A Lead Clinician 
Ø An Executive Partnership Leadership Team 
Ø A  Partnership  Consultative  Group  will  be  set  up  and  chaired  by  the  Lead  Executive  with  as  many  representatives  and 

stakeholders from the health and care sector in that place as required.

The governance and work programme priorities supporting implementation of Joint Strategic Needs Assessments, Health and Wellbeing 
Strategies and place-based plans is described in detail on slides to follow (slides 18 and 19). The Sussex, Integrated Care Strategy builds 
on these existing strategies and plans.

49



Health Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee

Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Sussex Integrated 
Care Board (ICB)

Sussex Health and 
Care Assembly 
Integrated Care 

Partnership

Brighton & Hove 
City Council

Brighton & Hove 
Health and Care 

Partnership 
Executive

B&H Population 
Health, Prevention 

& Health 
Inequalities 

Steering Group 

Brighton & Hove 
Community 

Oversight Group

Brighton & Hove 
Children & Young 
People Oversight 

Board

Urgent Care & A&E 
Delivery Programme

Mental Health 
Transformation 

Programme 

Independent Democratic 
Scrutiny

Directing the 
Population Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy

Community 
Transformation 

Programme

Multiple Compound 
Needs 

Transformation 
Programme 

Discharge Transformation 
Programme 

Better Care Fund 
Steering Group

ICB Committees and 
Assurance Groups

Place Health 
Inequalities 
Programme

Brighton & Hove 
Mental Health 

Oversight Board 

Urgent Community 
Response 

Responsive Service

Virtual Wards

Palliative & End of Life 
programme

Children and Young 
Peoples Emotional 

Wellbeing

Physical Health-Checks 
for people with Serious 

Mental Illness

Mental Health 
Accommodation and 

Support 

Lead on the statutory delegated 
responsibilities from the ICB

Direction of Strategy 

Reporting/Accountability

B&H Place Based Structure and Work Programmes

Local initiative Targeting 
Wider Communities 

B&H Maternity Equity 
Programme

Cancer Outreach 

 HIV Opt Out /  High 
Intensity Users  

Social Prescribing / 
Community Engagement

Suicide Prevention 

Integrated Care 
Operations Group

Brighton & Hove 
Operational Group

Health Protection 
and Screening 

Care Settings 
Response Group

Neurodevelopment 
Pathways 

Speech and Language 
Therapies 

Learning Disability & 
Autism 

Children & Young 
People Programme

Drug Partnership 

Changing Futures 

PLUS Groups 
(Core20PLUS5)

50



19

B&H Health &  Care 
Partnership 
Executive

Mental Health 
(MH)  Oversight 
Board 

BHCC Health &  
Adult Social Care 
Directorate 

Management Team

ASC Modernisation 
Programme 

B&H Health 
Inequalities Steering 

Group

Community 
Transformatio
n programme 

B&H MH 
Programme 

Sussex Integrated 
Care Board 

B&H  Executive 
Leadership Team

B&H City CouncilB&H Health and 
Wellbeing Board

B&H  HOSC

ICS Clinical and 
Advisory Group

ICS HI & PHM 
Programme 

Public Health Board

Sussex Race Equality 
Transformation 

Board 

B&H Maternity Equity 
Programme

Leadership & 
Scrutiny Groups

Established 
Place-based 
Group/Board

Strategic 
Relationship

Accountability

Key

Independent Scrutiny Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Population 
Health 
Management

Health Inequality Strategy
Health 
Inequality 
Delivery

Local Initiatives 
targeting wider 
communities 

Social Prescribing / 
Community 
Engagement

HIV Opt Out /  High 
Intensity Users

Cancer Outreach

Programme

Commissioning & HSC IntegrationPopulation Health Management & Health Inequality

Leadership

Independent 
Scrutiny

Children & 
Young People 
Oversight 
Board 

Community 
Oversight 
Board 

Neurodevelopme
nt pathway / CYP 
Speech Therapy 
Pathway

 Operations 
Group

B&H  OPEX

A & E Delivery 
Board 

Suicide 
Prevention 
Board 

B&H PCNs Group 

Changing Futures MCN 
Transformation 
Programme 

Learning 
Disability & 
Autism Board 

Trans 
Healthcare
Improveme
nt Board 

Engagement 

City 
Mgt 
Board 

Falls & Prevention 
Steering Group 

Communityy 
Pharmacy & Public 
Health Forum 

Ageing Well

Covid-19 Flu & 
Vaccination 

Programme Board 

Healthy Weight 
Programme Board 

BHCC HASC / PH Programmes & Boards 

Health 
Protection & 
Screening

CVD Steering Group 

Care Settings 
Response Group 

Care Settings Incident 
Management Group

Tobacco Control 
Board 

Sexual 
Health 
Program
me Board 

BCF Steering Group

Detailed Structure of the Brighton & Hove Health and 
Care Partnership System & Work Programmes

Drug Partnership 
Board

Sussex Health and 
Care Assembly 
Integrated Care 
Partnership

ICB Committees and 
Assurance Groups

B&H Tourism, 
Equalities, 

Communities & Culture 
Committee

B&H Community Safety 
Partnership

51



B&H Health Inequalities Programme  
Children and Young People  Adults Over 65’s

Targeted Interventions 

General Health Needs 

Thematic Priorities across the patients life 
Neighbourhood Development -  Experts by Experience – Communities of Practice – Data & Information – Workforce Development – 

Population Health Management 

Social Prescribing & Social Prescribing Plus  

Neuro Development Pathway 
Cancer Awareness – Brighter Outlook 

Maternity & Perinatal Equity and 
Inequality Plan Delivery 

Mental Health Inequalities Services 

Homelessness Outreach Clinic 

 Hypertension Case Finding
Long Term Conditions 

Smoking Cessation

ED HIV Opt Out 
Mobile Fibroscan Service  

High Intensity Users 
CORE20PLUS – PLUS Groups

Young Carers – PLUS Group
Mental Health Transitions 

Active Lives – Healthy Weight

Ageing Well Service

52



Scheme Name  Scheme Description 
CORE 20 Schemes 

Community Development 
Team delivery

This project will commission grants to local community and voluntary sector organisations, funding Community 
development and engagement services activities to increase access to health and wellbeing services and reduce health 
inequalities targeting most deprived neighbourhoods, BAME and priority groups including PLUS group LGBTQ+  with a 
disability lens across all the cohorts. The funding will assist to develop capacity / skills in the community for people to take 
better control of their lives and health and wellbeing. This will build on existing work in communities working alongside 
PCNs to build capacity in communities to strengthen prevention for health and wellbeing including prevention 
for Cardiovascular Disease, Covid19, Flu and other vaccinations, healthy lifestyle services, social prescribing and support 
with cost-of-living challenges such debt advice. 

Developing Neighbourhood 
model

In alignment with the Government white paper on health and social care integration, all Integrated Care Systems must 
develop place-based partnerships which include a neighbourhood model for community integration and health inequality. 
The 4 Localities in Brighton & Hove have been agreed as the Neighbourhood footprint.  This work needs to be progressed 
through a collaborative approach including all partners to develop the model that is best fit for the city and the many 
communities of interest within it.  Neighbourhoods working requires leadership to develop and mature as well as being 
the main delivery vehicle for the ICS and Place-based Core20 Plus groups targeted health inequality improvement. Places 
are expected to have their neighbourhood model established by March 2023, with the following year to be used for 
maturing partnerships and developing governance arrangements, as well as delivering on health inequality objectives. 

PLUS Schemes 
Homeless Roving Clinic for 
Podiatry and Wound care

Targeted Podiatry and Wound care Support through a roving clinic with inclusion of social prescribing will  support a 
reduction in hospital admissions and attendance to A&E. Static and roving clinics in locations that meet the needs of 
the service users providing specialist wound care , Specialist Podiatry care, holistic support, sign posting and 
advocacy , First Aid, Safe space, LGBTQ+ inclusive space and welcoming minority groups, Flu Vaccinations, Sexual 
health advice and pregnancy testing, Smoking cessation

Globally Displaced 
Communities - 
Refugees/Asylum Seekers 
Social Prescribing Service. 

This scheme will support the provision of outreach to asylum seekers to increase access to health and care services 
and support migrants navigate complex health and care systems and access health checks and vaccinations as 
required 

      Clinical ‘5’Schemes 
Hypertension Case Findings 
Heart Health - Community 
Nurses/ Pharmacist role 

The aim of this service iso improve access to hypertension treatment and behaviour change for cardiovascular 
disease prevention and healthy lifestyles for those most at risk and to improve both case-finding and management in 
underserved communities. 

NHS funded Health Inequalities Schemes for Core20PLUS5 

53



54



Brighton & Hove City Council 

 
 

Health Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 

Agenda  Item 35

  

Subject: Sussex Integrated Care Strategy 
 
Date of meeting: 25 January 2023 
 
Report of: Executive Director, Governance, People & Resources 
 
Contact Officer: Name: Giles Rossington 
 Tel: 01273 295514 
 Email: giles.rossington@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
  
Ward(s) affected: All 
 

 
For general release  
 

Glossary of Terms 

 Integrated Care System – regional partnership of NHS bodies, local 
authorities and other stakeholders (Healthwatch, CVS etc.) responsible for 
planning and delivering health and care services. In Sussex this is Sussex 
Health & Care. 

 Integrated Care Board (ICB) – NHS body responsible for NHS 
commissioning and other executive functions. In Sussex the ICB is NHS 
Sussex. 

 Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) – joint committee of the ICB and upper-
tier local authorities responsible for agreeing a high level Strategy for the 
Integrated Care System. In Sussex the ICP is the Sussex Health & Care 
Assembly. 

 Health & Wellbeing Board (HWB) – strategic partnership of local authority, 
NHS bodies, CVS etc.  

 Joint Local Health & Wellbeing Strategy (JLHWS) – local high-level health 
and wellbeing improvement strategy, agreed and overseen by HWBs. 

 Joint Forward Plan (JFP) –integrated care boards (ICBs) and their partner 
NHS trusts and foundation trusts are required to develop their first 5-year 
joint forward plans (JFPs) with system partners. The plan itself must 
describe how the ICB proposes to implement relevant JLHWSs.   
 

 
 

 
1. Purpose of the report and policy context 
 
1.1 This report presents the recently agreed Sussex Integrated Care Strategy to 

the HOSC for information. 
 

1.2 A copy of the Integrated Care Strategy is included as Appendix 1 to this 
report. An engagement report is also included as Appendix 2, and slides on 
plans to implement the Strategy as Appendix 3. 

 
55



 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That Committee notes the Sussex Integrated Care Strategy (Appendix 1) 
and the engagement underpinning the development of the Strategy 
(Appendix 2) 

 
3. Context and background information 
 

Integrated Care Systems 
 

3.1 The Health & Care Act (2022) introduced a new system for the planning and 
delivery of health and care services in England. Under the new 
arrangements, NHS bodies come together with local authorities and other 
partners to coordinate services as an Integrated Care System. Integrated 
Care Systems operate at both regional (system) and local (place) levels. 
There are 42 Systems nationally. Locally, the system is Sussex, with three 
places: East Sussex, West Sussex and Brighton & Hove. 

 
3.2 Each Integrated Care System is required to have an Integrated Care Board 

(ICB) and an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP). The ICB is responsible for 
executive NHS functions, including the commissioning responsibilities 
previously undertaken by Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). The ICP 
is a partnership of the ICB, upper-tier local authorities and other 
stakeholders, and is responsible for setting the high-level direction of the 
System via its Integrated Care Strategy.  
 

3.3 For Sussex, the Integrated Care System is called Sussex Health & Care; 
the ICB is called NHS Sussex; and the ICP is called the Sussex Health & 
Care Assembly.  
 

3.4 The Sussex Health & Care Assembly (SHCA) includes representatives from 
NHS Sussex; from East Sussex County Council, West Sussex County 
Council and Brighton & Hove City Council (the Chairs of each Council’s 
Health & Wellbeing Board); and from stakeholders including Healthwatch, 
Community & Voluntary Sector organisations, universities and housing 
providers. The main function of the SHCA is to agree, and to oversee the 
implementation of, an Integrated Care Strategy for Sussex. The SHCA 
agreed an Integrated Care Strategy at the 14 December 2022 Assembly 
meeting. 
 
Integrated Care Strategies, Health & Wellbeing Boards and HOSCs 
 

3.5 The 2022 Health & Care Act requires that Integrated Care Strategies be 
developed from Joint Local Health & Wellbeing Strategies (JLHWS), the 
local high-level health and wellbeing improvement plans developed and 
owned by HWBs. Guidance states that HWBs should be involved in the 
formation of Integrated Care Strategies, and specifically be assured that the 
Integrated Care Strategy reflects local priorities identified in the JLHWS. 
 

3.6 The Act also requires ICBs and their partner NHS Trusts and Foundation 
Trusts to publish annual Joint Forward Plans (JFP). JFPs must deliver the 

56



 

 

priorities identified by the Integrated Care Strategy (and by Joint Local 
Health & Wellbeing Strategies). HWBs must be involved in the development 
of JFPs, including reviewing the draft JFP. HWBs are specifically tasked with 
assessing the degree to which the JFP takes proper account of the JLHWS. 
 

3.7 Statutory guidance on the role of HOSC in the new health and care system 
is anticipated but has not yet been published. In the interim, the Department 
of Health & Social Care, the Local Government Association, and the Centre 
for Governance & Scrutiny published Health Overview & Scrutiny Principles 
in July 2022: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-overview-
and-scrutiny-committee-principles/health-overview-and-scrutiny-committee-
principles  
 

3.8 This guidance is not particularly specific, but does suggest that local HOSCs 
should work together with the ICB and with HWBs to develop a shared 
understanding of the role of health scrutiny at both a system and place level. 
 

3.9 The Sussex Integrated Care Strategy (Improving Lives Together) was 
agreed by the SHCA in December 2022. The Strategy identifies four priority 
areas for improvement at a system level: 
 

 Joined-up community working 

 Growing and supporting our workforce 

 Improving the use of digital technology and information 

 Maximizing the power of partnerships. 
 
3.10 The Strategy also identifies priorities for each of the three Sussex places. 

For Brighton & Hove these are: 
 

 Children & young people 

 Mental Health 

 Multiple Compound Needs (e.g. a combination of 
homelessness/rough sleeping, contact with the criminal justice 
system, substance misuse, mental health problems) 

 Multiple Long Term Conditions (e.g. diabetes, COPD, heart 
problems) 

 Cancer. 
 
 
4. Analysis and consideration of alternative options  
 
4.1 Not relevant to this report for information. 
 
5. Community engagement and consultation 
 
5.1 None directly for this report. However members may wish to note that 

extensive engagement with the public and with stakeholder organisations 
was used in the development of the Integrated Care Strategy. Details of this 
are included as Appendix 2 to this report. 

 

57

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-overview-and-scrutiny-committee-principles/health-overview-and-scrutiny-committee-principles
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-overview-and-scrutiny-committee-principles/health-overview-and-scrutiny-committee-principles
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-overview-and-scrutiny-committee-principles/health-overview-and-scrutiny-committee-principles


 

 

6. Conclusion 
 

6.1 The committee is asked to note the Sussex Integrated Care Strategy. 
 
7. Financial implications 

 
7.1       Not relevant to this information report. 
 
 
8. Legal implications 
 
8.1 There are no legal implications to this report. 
 

Name of lawyer consulted: Elizabeth Culbert Date consulted 03/01/23  
 

9. Equalities implications 
 
9.1 None directly to this report for information. 
 
10. Sustainability implications 
 
 
10.1 None directly to this report for information. Members may wish to explore the 

degree to which improving environmental sustainability and reducing carbon 
emissions will be a priority for the Integrated Care System, particularly given the 
fact that many system partners have organisational commitments to reduce 
emissions etc. 

 
 

Supporting Documentation 
 

1. Appendices  
 
1. The Sussex Integrated Care Strategy 
2. Sussex Integrated Care Strategy Engagement Report 
3. Slides on plans to implement the Integrated Care Strategy 

 
 
 
 

 
 

58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Involving people and 

communities in the 

development of the 

Sussex Integrated Care 

Strategy    

Sub header (if required) 

101



 

1 
 

CONTENTS 

 

1 Executive Summary ................................................................................................................. 1 

2 Citizen engagement ................................................................................................................. 3 

2.1 Collation of insight over the past 12-18 months. .......................................................... 3 

2.2 Better Health and Care for All public survey ................................................................ 4 

2.3 Reaching and hearing from marginalised communities .............................................. 6 

2.4 Reaching and hearing from residents in our towns and cities .................................... 7 

2.5 Sussex Health and Care priorities virtual events ....................................................... 10 

2.6 Engaging children and young people ......................................................................... 10 

2.7 Public Confidence in the NHS ...................................................................................... 11 

3 Workforce engagement .......................................................................................................... 12 

4 Conclusion ............................................................................................................................. 12 

 

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

“Improving Lives Together” – the strategy that outlines the ambition for a healthier future for 
Sussex - outlines an ambition to improve the lives of people living in Sussex, now and in the 
future, and to work differently with our people and communities to make this happen.   

Our strategy was developed collaboratively with partners across the health and care system, and 
with insight from people and communities across Sussex, including our workforce.  This report 
outlines how this insight was sought, collated and used to shape the priorities within the strategy, 
and how this insight will continue to support the delivery of the ambitions and priorities outlined 
within the strategy.  

We continually reach and hear from our people and communities; an initial exercise to collate 
high level insight from the past 12-18 months provided themes about what people had felt was 
most important to them. Further insight was sought to test these themes, and to provide 
contemporary feedback about current reflections and priorities about the health and care system, 
through an online public facing survey, a targeted survey to elicit information about some of 
our most marginalised groups and communities, and a broad public engagement exercise 
to reach and hear from people in locations across Sussex. Across this engagement, people were 
invited to share their views on the following areas as draft priorities: 

 

 

 

 

 

• Prevention and early intervention 
• Shaping care and support around “what matters to me” 
• Joining up care and support in neighbourhoods and communities  
• Addressing health inequalities  
• Supporting and growing our health and care workforce  
• Promoting social and economic wellbeing by supporting the local 

economy and providing opportunities to those most disadvantaged 
• Tackling social isolation and loneliness 
• Supporting emotional health and wellbeing  
• Using data to target care and support, and using technology for 

access to, and delivery of, health and care services  

102



 

2 
 

 

In addition, insight from our workforce from existing sources was reviewed, and several 
additional conversations held to ascertain priorities and reflections. It was agreed that active 
engagement with our workforce, beyond invitations to participate in existing mechanisms, was 
inappropriate given the known pressures on the health and care system.  

The priorities for the people and communities of Sussex as heard through this work are shown 
below.  

Growing and supporting our workforce 

People recognised the experience of the health and care workforce and expressed concern about 
ongoing capacity. The need to grow and support the workforce was widely recognised, including 
by the workforce itself.  

Prevention and early intervention  

With increased need for services, it was recognised that preventative work – such as good 
information, health checks and support for children and young people – is key.  The need for this to 
effectively reduce demand on health and care services was acknowledged.  

Joining up health and care services in neighbourhoods and communities 

It was widely acknowledged that services need to be more joined up, in order to support people 
more effectively and to provide more efficient ways of working, with better communication being 
key to this. Sharing of health records was also important, but some did express concerns relating 
to data security.  

Our Voluntary, Community, and Social Enterprise (VCSE) partners were recognised as key assets 
in supporting people and communities, particularly within neighbourhoods. 

Person Centred services   

It was felt important that services should be shaped around the person - “What matters to me” – 
recognising the expertise people have in their own health and the value of embedding lived 
experience. Increased co production and co design were felt to be important, including in 
improving efficiencies in health and care services.  

Emotional health and wellbeing  

This was highlighted in several ways in the insight - recognising in particular the legacy of the 
COVID pandemic, the need for early intervention and that many existing mental health services 
are pressured. Timely and effective support for children and young people was felt to be 
particularly important, including early intervention, access to assessment and diagnosis, and 
ongoing care, plus information and support for families.  

Tackling health inequalities  

This theme ran through a number of priorities as well as receiving support as a discrete area, 
particularly evident in the feedback from VCSE supporting some of our most marginalised groups 
and communities. It was widely recognised that health inequalities are unacceptable, and that the 
“gap” has been widened in the current cost of living crisis. There were concerns raised that some 
key areas such as increasing digital access could increase health inequalities if potential inequity 
was not recognised and addressed.  

103



 

3 
 

 

During the course of the engagement, many people were supportive of the outlined aims, 
ambitions and priorities outlined, and many people said that they would like to continue to be 
informed and involved as the delivery of the strategy progresses. 

As part of this work, questions from a national survey were used in our public facing survey to 
benchmark public confidence in the local delivery of health and care services. It is significant that, 
for all areas, only a minority of respondents were “somewhat confident” or “very confident”; 
however, this will provide a way to assess the impact of the health and care strategy on public 
confidence, and clearly shows the need to ensure effective communication of both the strategy and 
ongoing delivery and improvement.  

This report outlines the insight provided in detail and gives an overview of the key themes for each 
part of the engagement. 

2 CITIZEN ENGAGEMENT 

2.1 Collation of insight over the past 12-18 months  

Insight is continually sought from the people and communities across Sussex, through a range of 
methods and by partners across the health and care system.   

In order to inform early development of the health and care strategy, and to support the 
development of an effective engagement approach, a literature review summarised insight from a 
range of involvement opportunities that took place between 2018 and 2022.  The 18 reports 
reviewed included topics related to the wider health and care system, rather than in depth insight 
relating to specific services or communities. The review was carried out by an independent 
organisation.  

 

Key themes in the report centred around the following:  

 Personalised care and shared decision making  

 The need to reduce health inequalities  

 Access to care (including remote access to care and digital inclusion, access during the 
COVID pandemic and access in a more general context) 

 Communication and information (including access to information, channels of 
communication, and communication support) 

 The impact of the COVID pandemic and ongoing priorities related to this period 

 Relationships and connections (including community support and social connections, 
reducing social isolation, and the impact of financial hardship) 

The full report can be found here: https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/our-vision/developing-the-sussex-

integrated-care-strategy/ 

  

104

https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/our-vision/developing-the-sussex-integrated-care-strategy/
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/our-vision/developing-the-sussex-integrated-care-strategy/


 

4 
 

2.2 Better Health and Care for All public survey 

A public survey was published on Monday 10th October to socialise the nine emerging priorities 

from the work to date, and to encourage the local population to have their say on what was most 

important to them. 1,443 responses were received over a four week period.  

To increase reach and increase the response rate, the survey was promoted through NHS Sussex 

and partner websites, organic and paid for social media, newsletters, distribution lists and on 

materials that were shared at events, and promotion through partners’ own communications. 

Further advertising was used to target areas where response was lower.  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

1/3 of participants felt supporting and growing the workforce was the most important priority to 

the system.  

Participants recognised current challenges with workforce, the impact of the pandemic on mental 

health and the importance of the wellbeing of staff.  

There was recognition of a growing older population requiring a larger workforce to manage the 

need, particularly in care services. Many respondents felt that without the staff, no transformation 

in services or additional funding will prove successful. 

“Without a workforce that is adequate, both in numbers and the support it needs, all other 

initiatives will fail.” 

Over ¼ of participants felt prevention and early intervention should be prioritised.  

Reasons including using NHS funding wisely (72 responses), saving lives (26 responses) with 

further comments about improving quality of life, and relieving the demand on staff (25). 

Participants felt there should be more support for children to have the best start in life with more 

information around childhood immunisations, dentist check-ups and education around eating well 

from an early age. 

Table 1: Results depicting the most 

important priority area to them and their 

community 

105



 

5 
 

Annual health checks, cancer screening and men’s health checks were noted as key to support 

early intervention.  

“Increases chances of maintaining better health and less likely to lead to high-cost interventions 

and unnecessary suffering” 

Joining up health and care support in neighbourhoods and communities was also seen as 

an important priority.  

Many personal examples were shared demonstrating disjointed and fragmented health and care 

services, which are difficult to navigate. People said that they were often asked to travel long 

distances which can be difficult when unwell. 

Participants recognised that joined up care would avoid duplication and provide opportunities for 

resources to be used more effectively. Voluntary and community sector organisations were 

described as assets in local communities who could work more closely with health and care 

services to support people whilst waiting or moving between services. 

Better communication between services, and between services and people was seen as an 

opportunity to improve experiences, avoid confusion and stop people falling through the cracks. 

“Many services are disjointed, and appointments often seem unnecessary if services 

communicated. In addition, some services could be made much more accessible by being 

community based.” 

Participants felt people are individuals and shaping healthcare around the individual 

(personalised care) will ensure a better health outcome 

It was felt a “one size fits all” approach was unhelpful as people are able to manage different 

options. It was felt that healthcare should be agreed not dictated, but there was recognition that 

this is due to a lack of time and resources. Open and honest communication between patient and 

clinician was thought to be key to this priority being a success.  

“Ultimately, someone's health belongs to them, not to the system. A person knows their body and 

mind best even if they can't diagnose what's wrong. They know what motivates and disincentivises 

them. A system built around the needs and preferences of an individual is more likely to see that 

person fully engage with it”  

Using data and technology efficiently to provide access to, and delivery of, services will 

enable the NHS to become more efficient (10 responses) save time (8 responses), and increase 

joined up care (6 responses).  

There were examples of being sent for the same test multiple times, treatments not being 

recorded, and services not being able to see certain notes and files. Participants were, overall, 

agreeing with the need to use technology to cut inefficiencies and improve patient experience and 

outcomes. 

“Data and consolidation are the answer but there is too little investment in stream-lining the 

service. Look at what great companies like Amazon have done to retail and this is the kind of 

revolution we need on the health business.” 

Those who felt health inequalities should be a priority shared personal examples of being a part 

of underrepresented communities that feel “left behind”, ignored, forgotten, and discriminated 

against by NHS services. Some participants noted the increasing gap in health inequalities due to 

the cost-of-living crisis – poverty was seen as a key factor that is impacting on health outcomes. 

106



 

6 
 

“I know adults with learning disabilities who are unable to access service because you need to fill 

in forms at GP or go online….” 

Supporting emotional health and wellbeing was seen as the most significant priority by 4.5% of 

participants. This is lower that other insight capture show but may reflect a view that emotional 

health links into prevention and early intervention and supporting and growing the workforce. 25 of 

52 responses state that there is a lack of services available due to being oversubscribed, or no 

services at all, 13 of 52 responses mention the lack of support for children and young people, and 

8 people describe the increase in need due to the pandemic and cost of living crisis  

“I am shocked by how many young people and young adults are on mental health medications 

because other non-pharmacological therapies are too booked up.” 

 

2.3 Reaching and hearing from marginalised communities  

To ensure that the voices and views of some of our most marginalised communities were sought 
but recognising recent feedback about “over engagement” and barriers to responding to surveys in 
particular, focused insight was sought from trusted VCSE intermediaries.  

38 responses were received from VCSE supporting a range of communities including:  

 Ethnically diverse communities (4)                           

 People with learning disabilities (3) 

 Older people (3) 

 Young people (3)                                                 

 Carers (3)                                                            

 Trans, non-binary, and intersex people (2)                      

 LGBTQ+ people (2)  

 People with substance misuse issues (2)  

 Gypsy, Roma, Traveller communities (2)                                

 People on a low income (2)                                             

Which of these priorities is most important to the people and communities you work with and 

support, based on the insight you have? 

 

 Table 2: Results of survey: VCSE groups  

107



 

7 
 

 

Tackling health inequalities, supporting emotional health and wellbeing, and shaping care around 

the person were seen as the top three priorities for these communities.  

Issues with accessing services, language barriers, discrimination, and a lack of cultural awareness 

are cited as reasons why health inequalities exist and need to be the top priority.  

“Many Travellers we work with have had lots of negative experiences of primary care services in 

Sussex from being turned away from registering at a GP practice to health care professionals not 

understanding their culture and as a result leaving patients in significant distress. Members of the 

GRT community in Sussex are fed up and really want a more inclusive healthcare service.” 

Many of the VCSE organisations are supporting people who are struggling with mental health and 

wellbeing exacerbated by stress linked to the pandemic and the cost of living crisis. There was a 

particular mention of increasing suicide rates in Trans and non-binary communities.  

“Many people are still fearful post COVID and are facing very long waits to sort out their chronic and 
physical health problems meaning a perfect storm for mental health across the board.” 
 

VCSE organisations felt that by shaping care around the whole person, health and care 

services would respond to patient need, save time and resources, and make the person feel cared 

for and therefore more likely to follow treatment plans.  

“People tell us they feel that health and care support is not working for them - they feel like they 

are a 'whole person with different and varying needs' so services and support needs to be able to 

appreciate their 'whole and varying situation' and not just focus on one part or element of their 

needs.” 

Data and digital solutions were not considered a priority which is be because many of the 

communities they represent are recognised as digitally excluded due to cost, lack of skills and/or 

language barriers. 

“The push towards digital is making sections of our communities worry, believing they will be left 

behind.” 

2.4 Reaching and hearing from residents in our towns and cities   

Between September and December 2022, the emerging priorities for the health and care strategy 

were shared through face to face engagement at 35 community opportunities in key towns and 

cities across Sussex – see Appendix 1.  

Discussions around which areas were felt to be priorities were held, and conversations ranged 

from quick prioritisation exercises to more in-depth discussions about issues that are important to 

people and any perceived gaps.  

The key points from this engagement are represented below:  

The public understood the need to support and grow the workforce.  

 

There were concerns around how services will manage through winter due to workforce 

challenges, with patient safety being a key concern. It was noted that inefficiencies add to the 

workload, with patients being asked to repeat healthcare concerns multiple times, staff not 

communicating with each other leading to confusion around treatment plans, and patients being 

108



 

8 
 

asked to attend the same clinics for tests on different days. There was general agreement that the 

workforce should be a top priority as without adequate numbers of trained staff, services cannot 

run effectively.  

 

Prevention and early intervention regularly came out in the top three priorities with children and 

young people’s mental health being a prime concern.  

 

We heard about long waits for children to have an initial assessment. Primary care was seen as a 

driver for early intervention, but in parts of East Sussex in particular, there was concern about face 

to face access, and more widely there were many discussions around the need to reintroduce 

annual health checks.  Self-referral into local early intervention services would be welcomed, for 

example the Alcohol Wellbeing Services. 

 

Joining up health and care support in neighbourhoods and communities felt aspirational and 

challenging to implement. 

 

It was reflected that it felt services are disappearing locally, rather than being rooted in 

communities - with more services being provided at scale. However, people wanted to see that 

level of local support. There was also a reflection that NHS services do not feel joined up to some 

currently, and this should be addressed before the wider work to integrated with care services.  

 

Some felt that the solution to tackle social isolation and loneliness already exists. VCSE provide a 

range of peer support groups, forums, and befriending services to support people living in social 

isolation, and with more resource they could reach more people. This should not be an NHS 

priority but should be funded by NHS and Local Authority and more widely promoted through social 

prescribers, health visitors and social workers.  

Having come out of a worldwide pandemic, those engaged with agreed that supporting 

emotional health and wellbeing is a priority.  

Many personal experiences were shared around people struggling with mental health and coupled 

with long waits for support and social isolation. CAMHS was regularly raised as a serious concern - 

despite an increase in funding, the need continues to outweigh the capacity, and there needs to be 

greater focus on improving access. There were personal reflections that some unpaid carers are 

waiting to receive mental health support and CBT whilst trying to continue as a carer; it was felt 

that there should be fast track support to support carers with the role they fulfil.   

Using data and technology to improve access and delivery of services was seen a potential 

opportunity by some but there was clear feedback that technology must complement not replace 

current services. 

 

Digital exclusion and rurality need to be taken into consideration. Technology does fail and 

participants gave examples where phone or Wi-Fi signal was too weak, and calls were abandoned, 

therefore impacting on people getting support.  

 

People want to take better control of their health and shaping care around “what matters to me” 

(personalised care) provides opportunities to do this.  

Discussions at several events centred around the need for more consistent co-production and co-

design of services with the people that use them to ensure the services are accessible and fit 

patient need. 

109



 

9 
 

“Tackling health inequalities” was said to be jargon to the public so a clearer explanation was 

required. Many examples of issues faced by marginalised communities were shared including: 

 Delays when registering with a GP practice, and how the delays impacted on long term 

conditions (migrants and refugees at Sanctuary Café) 

 Lack of interpreting provision to support people where English is not their first language 

which can impact on diagnosis and treatment (interpreter workshop and Seaford Store 

House) 

 Lack of provision and discrimination impacts on the physical and mental health of trans 

people (Crawley Trans engagement) 

 Lack of understanding and awareness around veteran needs when reintegrating into 

civilian life, particularly where they have reduced mobility (veteran drop in) 

 Unpaid carers receiving little support or respite to manage their health and wellbeing, whilst 

caring for someone.  

When data around average healthy life expectancy was shared, people were quick to agree that 

tackling health inequalities should be a clear area of focus. 

Supporting local economy and providing work to those who are most disadvantaged did not 

resonate with members of the public. People referred to the cost-of-living crisis but didn’t connect it 

with this.  

The public agreed that the nine themes broadly resonated with their views of health and care 

services, but three additional themes surfaced from conversations: 

Communication:  

Participants felt that the NHS needs to be more effective in communicating with patients; providing 

accessible information, offering consistent communication support to those who do not speak 

English as a first language, updating patients on timeframes when on waiting lists, and proactively 

signposting to VCSE services to access support whilst waiting. Communication between services 

also requires improvement. Examples were shared of GP referral letters not being received by 

hospitals, test results not being shared between services, and patients having to explain their 

healthcare need multiple times. 

Impact of cost-of-living: 

People were anxious about the impact of cost-of-living on physical health (eating nutritious meals, 

exercising, keeping warm), and mental health (stress and anxiety around financial impact). Those 

living in deprivation or rural areas have no support systems and cannot access warm hubs without 

travelling, which usually incurs a cost.   

Raising negative experiences:  

Throughout the involvement events, the public shared personal experiences of either themselves 

or family members being poorly treated by staff with examples of patients feeling talked down to, 

treated like an inconvenience, or being rude. Patients did not feel empowered to complain and 

those who tried to take a complaint forward found the complaints process overly complicated to 

navigate. Complaints were not being responded to adequately, often coming across as defensive 

and refusing to accept any liability. The process is not seen as fair, open, or welcoming. 

 

110



 

10 
 

2.5 Sussex Health and Care virtual events  

Two public facing virtual events took place led by the NHS Sussex and Sussex Health and Care 

Assembly Chair. The Sussex Health and Care vision, ambitions and emerging priorities were 

presented to more than 80 members of the public, workforce, and VCSE representatives with 

opportunities to reflect and ask questions. A recording of the event was shared to increase 

engagement.   

Key themes included: 

 enthusiasm and optimism of real impact and change around the ambition and priorities of 

the Sussex Health and Care Assembly 

 a desire to support and get involved in the design and delivery of the priorities from 

members of the public and VCSE 

 several discussions about managing the workforce; supporting mental health and 

wellbeing, retaining current staff, and finding ways to make working in Sussex more 

appealing 

 discussions about individual experiences of accessing care, and the areas that require 

improvement 

 the need to tackle health inequalities for specific communities including Gypsy, Roma, 

Travellers, rural communities, those living in deprivation and other marginalised 

communities 

 involving people from marginalised communities in meaningful activities and not 

relying solely on surveys to gain feedback, recognising the response rates are not 

representative 

 communication, both with the public and between services was discussed and recognition 

of the need to simplify language is vital to gain buy in and trust. 

2.6 Engaging children and young people 

A discrete engagement event with a number of children and young people (CYP) and 

representatives from VCSE organisations that work with CYP with emotional health and wellbeing 

issues and/or learning disabilities took place and supported a collection of insight gained through 

our public facing survey. 

Conversations centred on the importance of the health and care system focussing more on 

prevention. The young people, and organisations supporting them, highlighted better access to 

services and getting the right support at the right time was key to improving the mental health 

and emotional wellbeing of children and young people.   

Social prescribing was discussed as a positive and welcomed model to support children and young 

people in the early stages of a mental health issue, as well as services ‘checking in’ with young 

people who are at risk not just communication to organise crisis support. 

Better partnership working between the education system and health services was discussed, 

with the role of SENCOs being seen as key to influencing referrals and outcomes for children and 

young people, and that decision-making should always include health professionals.    

Attendees felt that practitioners needed to increase their professional understanding of 

mental health and neurodevelopmental conditions.   

Similar to wider insight, the importance of person centred care was seen as key, as was the desire 

to be believed when discussing their own health: 

111



 

11 
 

“I know when something isn’t right with me.  It’s frustrating to not be believed when I highlight how I 

feel mentally and physically and the other conditions I might have” 

 

It was also felt that the system needs to change the way it viewed neurodiversity as a 

deficit.  Young people agreed that there are advantages to these conditions and that these should 

be celebrated and nurtured more. 

Embedding Lived experience was discussed as key to accessibility of services and trust in the 

staff, and that being supported by staff with similar protected characteristics or had gone 

through similar life events to their own, would increase CYO engagement in services. 

Attendees recognised workforce challenges and agreed that increasing recruitment needs to be 

a priority. There were discussions around the need to provide opportunities for young people to 

enter the workforce, and to ensure that the focus on qualifications and experience do not exclude 

young people, particularly those from disadvantaged backgrounds. Models such as 

apprenticeships and supported employment were suggested.  

Finally, attendees felt strongly that youth voice should be encouraged and supported, with six key 

messages agreed to take forward in partnership:  

 Listen, hear and act more 

 Develop a model for youth voice 

 Increase partnership working 

 Improve communications methods - include voices that need to be engaged more 

 Diversify the workforce and increase opportunities for young people 

 Strengthen opportunities for CYP to receive feedback, take part in evaluation and the 

quality assurance of services, projects, and programmes. 

 

2.7 Public confidence in health and care services across Sussex   

To benchmark current public confidence in the NHS, questions from a national survey were 

included in the wider public survey. These questions will be repeated on a six monthly basis to see 

if there is a change in public opinion as the five year Integrated Care Strategy is implemented.   

 

 

112



 

12 
 

In all but one question, 40-50% of respondents were “not at all confident” or “not very confident” 

about delivery of health and care priorities in Sussex;  however nearly 62% of respondents were 

not confident that health and care services have the right plans in place to help people get better 

care and support, which is significant in thinking about how the Integrated Care Strategy is shared 

and implemented, and will provide an effective benchmark for assessment of the success of the 

strategy and how progress and achievement is communicated.  

3 WORKFORCE ENGAGEMENT 

Views and insight from our workforce are vital to capture in the development of the strategy; it 

should, however, be recognised that many of our workforce are users of health and care services, 

so broader insight capture to some extent will also reflect this.  For this focused period of 

engagement, views of our workforce were heard through:  

 

 Virtual public meetings  

 Attending face to face drop ins with the Executive and Non-Executive Directors, and 

internal directorate discussions (NHS Sussex) 

 Completing our public facing survey  

 Insight from the 2021 Staff Survey - NHS Trusts across Sussex 

 Existing insight from adult social care workforce (note this is from one of our local 

authorities) 

The mental health and wellbeing of the workforce was the most common theme across the insight; 

there was widespread recognition and concern about the demand being faced, particularly by front 

line staff, exacerbated by the percentage of workforce on short term sickness and vacancies. 

There was also a particular concern raised around the older age of the many of the current 

workforce, and the need to both appreciate the long-term conditions associated with age impacting 

on employment, and also the loss to the workforce through retirement and the impact on future 

workforce. 

Recruitment and retention were felt an important factor; retention will be key to creating a stable 

and resilient workforce, supported by improving learning and development opportunities for current 

staff, focusing on career progression and the ability to work across organisations in new and 

diverse roles. Recruitment to existing vacancies and new roles is also key to delivering system 

priorities.   

This insight will be extended through a deliberative engagement process due to take place in 

January and February 2023, bringing together 30 members of the health and care workforce, to 

further explore some of the themes above and to discuss the workforce in both organisational and 

system contexts.   

4 CONCLUSION 

Through the extensive range of activities outlined, individuals and communities have had the 

opportunity to share their views of the priorities for health and care in Sussex, to help inform our 

strategy. Growing and supporting the workforce, joining up health and care in neighbourhoods and 

communities and prevention and early intervention were clear priorities across the engagement, 

with health inequalities and supporting emotional health and wellbeing being clear priorities for 

113



 

13 
 

those supporting and representing marginalised communities. Strong clear communication 

between staff and patients/people, and between services runs as a golden thread through these 

priorities. 

Whilst the levels of confidence represented were low, when having individual conversations with 

people there was a sense of optimism and hope; people were engaged and felt the ambition of the 

strategy as outlined were relevant, transformational, and could have a significant impact on the 

population of Sussex.   

Whilst recognising the challenges faced across the health and care economy, participants regularly 

reported that they would like more opportunity to get involved in the design and delivery of models 

of services, with a sense of wanting to support health and care services to deliver these priorities, 

and design healthcare that fits the needs of the local population.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

114



 

14 
 

 

Appendix 1: face to face Citizen Engagement  

   

Date Location Type of event Community  Approx. 
numbers 
engaged 

03.09.22 Crawley Existing local network  Trans & Non binary 18 

08.09.22 St Leonards 
on sea 

Hastings Older Peoples 
Ethnic Group 

Older people 40 

15.09.22 Uckfield Wealden Community 
Network 

General public 20 

20.09.22 Lewes Networking event General public 30 

20.09.22 Eastbourne Healthwatch listening 
tour 

Local people 30 

21.09.22 Battle Rother Community 
Network 

General public 50 

21.09.22 Henfield Pregnancy, maternity 
and mental health focus 

Parents and community 
volunteers 

15 

27.09.22 Eastbourne Community network 
meeting 

Local People 60 

28.09.22 Hove West Hove Forum General public 30 

04.10.22 Horsham Horsham District Older 
Peoples Forum 

Older people 16 

06.10.22 Seaford 
Storehouse 

Foodbank Those living in 
deprivation 

14 

07.10.22 Chichester 
Pavilion 

Public Forum Local people 70-80 

12.10.22 Burgess Hill Mid-Sussex Voluntary 
Action Health Forum 

Local community groups 
with a health focus  

20 

15.10.22 Eastbourne Healthwatch Listening 
Tour launch event 

Local residents 20 

17.10.22 Shoreham Adur - Alcohol Wellbeing 
Launch & Network Event 

Local wellbeing team 6 

19.10.22 Crawley Menshare support circle Men from areas of 
deprivation, poor mental 
health 

11 

19.10.22 Crawley Carers drop in Local carers 10 

21.10.22 Rye 
Community 
Centre 

Seniors Community Fair 
with Sally Ann Hart MP 

Older local residents 50 

22.10.22 Defiant Sports 
at The 
Crumbles  

Healthwatch listening 
tour 

People living with 
disabilities  

15 

24.10.22 Crawley Armed Services and 
Veterans 

Armed Services 
personnel and Veterans 

16 

26.10.22 Brighton Children and Young 
People Leads  

CYP Leads, relevant 
VCSE and Healthwatch  

20 

27.10.22 Eastbourne 
Town Hall 
 

The Big ‘Health and 
Care’ Question Time – 
live event 

Local communities 50 

115



 

15 
 

10.11.12 Winter Garden  Big Sparks  Local community groups 150 

16.11.22 Haywards 
Heath 

Older Peoples Groups 
Forum 

Local community groups 22 

18.11.22 All Souls 
Church Halls, 
Eastbourne  

Sanctuary Café drop in  Refugees and asylum 
seekers 

20 

24.11.22 Brighton 
(central) 

Carers Rights Day  
(Hosted by Age Concern) 

Carers 28 

30.11.22 Crawley Free 
Shop 

Dorsten Square, Crawley  Local residents 30 

06.12.22 Bexhill PCN : Community mental 
health awareness and 
wellbeing event 

Public 60+ 

06.12.22 East 
Grinstead 

Age UK day Centre Older people who visit 
the day centre 

25 

07.12.22 Crowborough Crowborough Community 
Centre 

Public 50 

08.12.22 Crawley Crawley Disability Forum People with a range of 
disabilities  

20 

08.12.22 Hassocks Carers event Carers 12 

08.12.22 Worthing 
Town Hall 

Adur and Worthing 
Health and Wellbeing 
Network 

Local residents and 
community groups 

40 

12.12.22 Newhaven Community Supermarket Those living in areas of 
deprivation 

30 

13.12.22 Cravenvale 
Community 
Centre 
(Brighton) 

Coffee morning (cost of 
living assistance) 

Those living in areas of 
deprivation 

25 

Ongoing insight capture  

15.12.22 Peacehaven Community Supermarket Those living in areas of 
deprivation 

30* 

19.12.22 Petworth Fun and Festive Food 
Day 

Public 50* 

07.01.23 Midhurst Farmers Market Public 80* 

23.01.23 Hellingly  Young at Heart Club, 
Over 60’s group –  

Hellingly and Hailsham 
residents 

40* 

*approx. numbers 

 

   

116



Brighton & Hove
Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee

25th January 2023

Integrated Health & Care Strategy Implementation

117



How the
Integrated Health & Care Strategy
was developed in partnership with 
stakeholders including citizens and 
workforce

118



Sussex Strategy Development Principles
The Sussex Health and Care Assembly and System Leadership Forum (bringing together 
executive leadership of all statutory partners) agreed the following key principles to guide the 
strategy development process:

a) Place and population first: We took an approach that considers the principles of place-
based working that have been agreed across the system.

b) Data and evidence: We ensured that our approach was based on evidence, comparative 
data and responded to population need in line with the above principles.

c) Co-production: Our communities were central to the creation of the plan. To achieve this, 
we ensured that every organisation was actively involved and led in the engagement with our 
communities.

d) NHS plan: The NHS National Mandate was included within the strategy but did not drive its 
framing. Health and Wellbeing Strategies underpinned the strategy development process.

Further design principles were considered as part of the process:

Ensuring the most appropriate geography was considered in framing strategic priorities: 

• Neighbourhood (i.e. town or local community)
• Place (i.e. local authority footprints of Brighton & Hove, East Sussex or West Sussex)
• Sussex Wide (i.e. overall footprint of NHS Sussex)

The Sussex Health and Care Assembly was responsible for signing off the strategy, with full 
support and engagement from system partners. This was achieved at the Health and Care 
Assembly’s Meeting in public 14 December 2022.

119



Simplified governance structure for development and sign off of the Integrated 
Care Strategy

Programme Board

Provider Governance

Local Authority Governance

Council, 
Cabinet and 
Committees

Sussex Health and Care 
Assembly

NHS Sussex Governance

NHS Sussex Board

Health 
Oversight 
Scrutiny 

Committees

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Boards

Place Governance

Integrated Care 
Strategy

NHS Delivery 
Plan

System Leadership 
Forum

NHS Sussex 
Executive Committee

120



Our engagement approach – endorsed by the Programme Board made up of 
Directors of Adult and Children's’ Services and Directors of Public Health

• Built on existing insight  - not re-engage

• Sense checked themes and priorities 

• Underpinned by collaboration and 
partnership across the health and care 
system 

• Independent and peer review ensured 
process was systematic & meaningful

• Clarity on “what’s next” for ongoing 
engagement and review after Strategy 
publication 

• Strategy underpinned by a 
comprehensive Equality and Health 
Inequalities Impact Assessment (EHIA) 
and Quality Impact Assessment (QIA)

Insight report - Priorities for our people & communities  

Inequality 
lens 

Current 
priorities 

Existing 
insight 

Sense check: key 
public stakeholders @ 
system/place  

Reference 
group 
oversight 

    Final strategy 

Ongoing insight capture and review  

July – m
id August 

Sep-N
ov 

Spring 2023 

121



122



Implementing the Sussex 
Integrated Care Strategy - 
Joint Forward Plan (JFP) 
Development Approach

 

Full NHS England Guidance: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/B1940-guidance-
on-developing-the-joint-forward-plan-december-2022.pdf

123

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/B1940-guidance-on-developing-the-joint-forward-plan-december-2022.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/B1940-guidance-on-developing-the-joint-forward-plan-december-2022.pdf


Purpose of the Joint Forward Plan – (National Guidance)

• The Department for Health & Social Care have published guidance for ICBs to develop a five-
year Joint Delivery Plan providing the integrated care system with a flexible framework which 
builds on existing system and place strategies and plans.

• The system has flexibility to determine their joint forward plan’s scope, as well as how its 
developed and structured and is encouraged to use it to develop a shared delivery plan for 
the integrated care strategy and joint local health and wellbeing strategies that is 
supported by the whole integrated care system.

• As a minimum, the joint forward plan should describe how NHS Sussex and its partner trusts 
intend to arrange and/or provide NHS services to meet their population’s physical and mental 
health needs. This should include the delivery of universal NHS commitments, address the 
Health and Care System’s four core purposes and meet legal requirements.

Principles

Three principles describing the joint forward plan’s nature and function have been co-developed with 
ICBs across the country, trusts and national organisations representing local authorities and other 
system partners. They include;

Principle 1: Fully aligned with the wider system partnership’s ambitions.
Principle 2: Supporting subsidiarity by building on existing local strategies and plans as well as 
reflecting the universal NHS commitments.
Principle 3: Delivery focused, including specific objectives, trajectories and milestones as appropriate.

124



Key Actions & Deadlines for NHS Sussex and key partners

• NHS Sussex is required to provide a first draft of the Joint Forward Plan by 1st April 
2023.  However, for this first year NHS England have stated the final date for publishing and 
sharing the plan is 30th June 2023, allowing the process of engagement with the Sussex 
Health and Care Assembly, Health and Wellbeing Boards and NHS England to continue 
after 31st March but ensuring a final iteration is signed off by 30th June.

• NHS Sussex must involve all Health & Wellbeing Boards in preparing or revising the joint 
forward plan. This includes sharing a draft with each relevant Health and Wellbeing Board, 
and consulting them on whether the plan takes proper account of each relevant local health 
and wellbeing strategy.

• NHS Sussex should agree processes for finalising and signing off the plan. The final version 
must be published, and NHS Sussex should expect to be held to account for its delivery – 
including by their population, patients and their carers or representatives – and through the 
Health and Care Assembly, Healthwatch and the local authorities’ Health Overview 
and Scrutiny committees. Plans must be reviewed and, where appropriate, updated 
before the start of each financial year.

• We would therefore intend on engaging with Brighton & Hove Health and Wellbeing Board 
before and formally on 07 March on a draft and provide the plan to the Brighton & Hove 
HOSC after 30 June.

125



The joint forward plan must:

►Set out steps for delivering the Integrated Care Strategy; 
►Be consistent with the NHS Sussex’s capital plan;
►Describe delivery plans to meet the population health needs of people in the Sussex 

area;
►Describe the steps NHS Sussex proposes to take to implement any joint local health and 

wellbeing strategy.

Statutory Framework

Relationship of the joint forward plan with other strategies and plans:

126



Developing the plan - engagement guidance

Close engagement with partners will be essential to the development of Joint Forward Plans. This includes working 
with:
►the Sussex Health and Care Assembly (ensuring this also provides the perspective of social care providers)
►primary care providers
►local authorities and each relevant Health and Wellbeing Board
►other ICBs in respect of providers whose operating boundary spans multiple ICSs
►NHS collaboratives, networks and alliances
►the voluntary, community and social enterprise sector
►people and communities that will be affected by specific parts of the proposed plan, or who are likely to have a 

significant interest in any of its objectives, in accordance with the requirement to consult described below.

Our proposed approach:
National guidance stipulates the local approach to be determined by NHS Sussex and partner trusts but should build on 
and reflect existing joint strategic needs assessments, joint health and wellbeing strategies and NHS delivery plans as 
well as local patient and public engagement exercises already undertaken.

Given the extensive and successful engagement approach to co-developing the Sussex Integrated Care Strategy, 
feedback and insight already gained from citizens and our workforce will be used to inform development of the Joint 
Forward Plan. In addition, a robust governance structure overseeing the development of the plan, will ensure that this 
insight is directly applied to the areas identified by the national guidance.

In line with the national guidance, key stakeholders and groups, such as Healthwatch, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
the Sussex Health and Care Assembly will be actively engaged and the respective Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees to offer scrutiny to the final proposed plans.

127



Role of the Health & Wellbeing Board
• In preparing or revising the joint forward plan, NHS Sussex and partner trusts are subject to a 

general legal duty to involve each Health and Wellbeing Board.

• NHS Sussex and partner trusts must send a draft of the joint forward plan to each Health and 
Wellbeing Board when initially developing it or undertaking significant revisions or updates. 
They must consult those Health and Wellbeing Boards on whether the draft takes proper 
account of each joint local health and wellbeing strategy that relates to any part of the period to 
which the joint forward plan relates – describing how NHS Sussex proposes to implement the 
joint health and wellbeing strategies.

• A Health and Wellbeing Board must respond with its opinion and may also send that opinion to 
NHS England, telling NHS Sussex and its partner trusts it has done so (unless it informed them 
in advance that it was planning to do so).

Role of NHS England
• NHS England will review and comment on the draft joint forward plan, and recommend this is 

done in parallel with the review by Health and Wellbeing Boards.  This is not a formal 
assurance process but an opportunity to support NHS Sussex and their partner trusts to 
develop their plans.

Role of Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees
• NHS Sussex and their partner trusts should expect to be held to account for its delivery – 

including by their population, patients and their carers or representatives and in particular 
through the Sussex Health and Care Assembly, Healthwatch and the local authorities’ health 
overview and scrutiny committees who NHS Sussex have a legal duty to consult as per the 
Working in Partnership with People & Communities statutory guidance.

 

128



Sign off process for the Joint Forward Plan

• NHS Sussex and their partner trusts should agree processes for finalising and signing off the 
joint forward plan. The final version must be published.

Annual updates & revision of the plan

• NHS Sussex and partner trusts should review their joint forward plan before the start of each 
financial year, by updating or confirming that it is being maintained for the next financial year. It 
may also revise the plan in-year if considered necessary.

• The annual refresh of joint forward plans allows them to be iterated and provides the opportunity 
for further engagement and collaboration, as well as the opportunity to continue to reflect the 
most appropriate delivery mechanisms and partners’ actions.

• If NHS Sussex and its partner trusts update the joint forward plan, in a way they consider to be 
significant, the same requirements regarding engagement and consultation will apply.

129



Statutory Requirements for content of the Joint Forward Plan
Legislative requirement  Detail
Describing the health services for 
which the ICB proposes to make 
arrangements

As a minimum, the plan should describe how the ICB and its partner trusts intend to arrange and/or provide 
NHS services to meet the physical and mental health needs of their population.

Duty to promote integration Plans should describe how ICBs will integrate health services, social care and health-related services to 
improve quality and reduce inequalities.

Duty to have regard to wider effect 
of decisions

The plan should articulate how the ‘triple aim’ was considered in its development. It should also describe 
approaches to ensure the triple aim is embedded in decision-making and evaluation processes. 

Financial duties The plan must describe how the financial duties under sections 223GB to 223N of the NHS Act 2006 will be 
addressed.

It should also set out how the efficiency and productivity of NHS services will be improved in line with the 
core purpose to ‘enhance productivity and value for money’.

Implementing any JLHWS The plan must set out steps the ICB will take to deliver on ambitions described in any relevant JLHWSs, 
including identified local target outcomes, approaches and priorities. 

Duty to improve quality of services The plan should contain a set of quality objectives that reflect system intelligence, including clearly aligned 
metrics (on processes and outcomes) to evidence ongoing sustainable and equitable improvement. Quality 
priorities should go beyond performance metrics and look at outcomes and preventing ill-health, and use the 
Core20PLUS5 approach to ensure inequalities are considered.

The plan should align with the National Quality Board principles.

Duty to reduce inequalities The plan should set out how the ICB intends to deliver on the national vision to ensure delivery of high-
quality healthcare for all, through equitable access, excellent experience and optimal outcomes.

The ICB must also be mindful of, and comply with, the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty, 
section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

Duty to promote involvement of 
each patient

The plan should describe actions to implement the Comprehensive model of personalised care, which 
promotes the involvement of each patient in decisions about prevention, diagnosis and their care or 
treatment.

130



Statutory Requirements
Legislative requirement  Detail
Duty to involve the public The plans should describe how: 

• the public and communities were engaged in the development of the plan 

• the ICB and partner trusts will work together to build effective partnerships with people and communities, 
particularly those who face the greatest health inequalities, working with wider ICS stakeholders to achieve this 

• activity at neighbourhood and place level informs decisions by the system and how public involvement legal duties 
are met and assured.

Duty to patient choice The plan should describe how ICBs will ensure that patient choice is considered when developing and implementing 
commissioning plans and contracting arrangements, and delivering services.

The plan should also describe how legal rights are upheld and how choices available to patients are publicised and 
promoted. 

Duty to obtain appropriate 
advice

The plan should outline the ICB’s strategy for seeking any expert advice it requires, including from local authority 
partners and through formal governance arrangements and broader engagement. 

Duty to promote innovation The plan should set out how the ICB will promote local innovation, build capability for the adoption and spread of 
proven innovation and work with academic health science networks and other local partners to support the 
identification and adoption of new products and pathways that align with population health needs and address health 
inequalities. 

Duty in respect of research The plan should set out how the ICB will facilitate and promote research, and systematically use evidence from 
research when exercising its functions. The plan should address the research needs of the ICB’s diverse 
communities. 

Duty to promote education 
and training

The plan should describe how the ICB will apply education and training as an essential lever of an integrated 
workforce plan that supports the delivery of services in the short, medium and long term.

The plan should articulate the role of education and training in securing healthcare staff supply and responding to 
changing service models, as well as the role of trainees in service delivery.

Duty as to climate change, etc The plan should describe how the ICB and its partner trusts will deliver against the targets and actions in Delivering a 
‘Net Zero’ NHS , including through aligning the JFP with existing green plans.

Addressing the particular 
needs of children and young 
persons

The plan must set out any steps that the ICB proposes to take to address the particular needs of children and young 
persons under the age of 25.

Addressing the particular 
needs of victims of abuse

The plan must set out any steps that the ICB proposes to take to address the particular needs of victims of abuse 
(including domestic and sexual abuse, whether children or adults). It must have due regard to the provisions of the 
Domestic Abuse Act 2021 and accompanying statutory guidance, and relevant safeguarding provisions. 

131



Other recommended content:

Workforce - Evidence-based, integrated, inclusive workforce plans that ensure the right workforce with the right skills is in the 
right place to deliver operational priorities aligned to finance and activity plans.

 
Performance - Specific performance ambitions with trajectories and milestones that align with NHS operational plan 
submissions and pay due regard to the ambitions of the NHS Long Term Plan, as appropriate.

Digital/data - Steps to increase digital maturity and ensure a core level of infrastructure, digitisation and skills.

Estates - Steps to create stronger, greener, smarter, better, fairer health and care infrastructure together with efficient use of 
resources and capital to deliver them. Aligned with and be incorporated within forthcoming ICS infrastructure strategies.

 
Procurement/supply chain - Plans to deliver procurement to maximise efficiency and ensure aggregation of spend, 
demonstrating delivery of best value.

Population health management - The approach to supporting implementation of more preventative and personalised care 
models driven through data and analytical techniques such as population segmentation and financial demand modelling.

System development - How the system organises itself and develops to support delivery. This could include: governance; role 
of place; role of provider collaboratives; clinical and care professional leadership; and leadership and system organisational 
development.

 
Supporting wider social & economic development - How the ICB and NHS providers will support the development and 
delivery of strategies to influence the social, environmental & economic 
factors that impact on health and wellbeing. This could include the anchor institution role.

132



Next steps and key dates 

• Complete planning approach and principles 

• Confirm planning governance, (including place-based)

• Confirm planning working group senior responsible officers

• Confirm membership of planning working groups

• Arrange and coordinate planning working groups 

• Work with Local Authority leads and Health and Wellbeing Boards to review 
the plan itself, (Brighton & Hove Health & Wellbeing Board - 07 March) with 
Chairs asked to provide a written statement to accompany the plan when 
NHS Sussex formally submits to NHS England at the end of June 2023.

• Post June 2023, submit to Brighton & Hove Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

133



134



Health and Adult Social Care

Budget Briefing
25th January 2023

135



HASC’s vision is for everyone in Brighton & Hove to have the best opportunity to live a healthy, happy and fulfilling life, by ensuring that they are starting 
well, living well, ageing well and dying well, and this is set out in the joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Our mission is to promote and improve health and 
wellbeing, supporting people to live independent and fulfilling lives. 

In order to achieve this and meet our corporate financial responsibilities of savings and reducing pressures our budget strategy requires: 

- Demand and Complexity management – whilst both Public Health and Adult Social Care are driven in large part by demand we will continue to adopt 
means that manage this effectively and equally look to the best services to support the increasing complexity of need we continue to see. This will 
require ongoing close working with our NHS partners and other key stakeholders. For example, the mental health JSNA shows a significant rise in 
demand and complexity for people with mental health needs; the Changing Futures Programme provides a multi-agency framework with financial 
input to support this area. In managing demand, we will focus on prevention and reablement to support and enable people to remain well and 
independent for as long as possible, reducing the need for long term care. We will also focus on technology enabled care to support people in the 
most person centred and cost-effective way. We will adopt new models of working in order to manage the increased demand the new Charging 
Reforms will bring to reduce the pressure on workforce requirements, such as increasing and improving customers' ability to self-assess.

- Market management – a review of framework rates will be undertaken alongside continued investment into other service areas such as our 
domiciliary care services, community support services and supported living provision to ensure that provision across the city remains financially 
sustainable. We will continue to review the in-house service offer to ensure it aligns with these commissioning intentions. We will enhance the 
current brokerage offer to manage unit costs for care and support. We will review the Direct Payment offer, with the ambition of increasing the 
uptake of Direct Payments to employ Personal Assistants. 

- Financial Management – ensuring robust financial management, value for money and efficiencies.   We will focus on our in-house care delivery, 
ensuring effective use of these services, to manage costs and to support reducing long term care needs.  We will continue with budget scrutiny and 
controls on spend to ensure good financial management.  We will look at what we charge for services to ensure they are in line with costs and will 
improve collection processes to maximise income.  

Budget Strategy

136



• 291,700 residents –predicted to increase by 11,300 by 2030
• City’s population is predicted to get older by 2030, with largest 

projected increase in 60-69 (34% increase) and 80-84 (34% increase). 
We are also predicting increases in 85-89 year olds and more 90+ year 
olds.

• Life expectancy: m 79.3 f 83.2
• Healthy Life expectancy m 55.6 f 65.3
• There are 50,900 adults (22% aged 20+ with 2 or more long term 

physical or mental health conditions in the city
• Brighton & Hove has above average levels of mental health issues
• Without scaling up prevention there will be 10,500 more adults with two 

or more long term conditions by 2030

Demographics 

137



Approximate activity levels 21/22:
• New requests for adult social care support 4,500
• New long term funded social care services 1,000
• Clients issues with simple aids for daily living 4,000
• Clients receiving telecare services 5,000
• Carers supported 2,000
• Safeguarding enquiries undertaken 900
• Adults receiving domiciliary care incl. direct payments  2,300
• Adults receiving residential and nursing care 1,200
• Total number of adults being provided long term care 3, 500

HASC Activity Snapshot 

138



The Health & Adult Social Care Directorate General fund budget totals £71.6m (net):

• Please note the services for adults with learning disabilities and autism sit within 
Family, Children and Learning Directorate (net budget is £41.6m)

• The 2022/23 Public Health Ring-Fenced Grant is £21.7m

2022/23 HASC Budget Context

2022/23 Budget (£'000)

Unit Gross Budget Income Budget Net Budget

Adult Social Care 65,983 (20,288) 45,695
S75 SPFT 31,832 (9,169) 22,663
Integrated Commissioning 6,558 (3,330) 3,228
Life Events 2,867 (2,972) (105)
Public Health 23,574 (23,452) 122
Health & Adult social Care total budget 130,814 (59,211) 71,603

139



Budget Analysis

The net budget can 
also be summarised 
across the following 
spend types:

In-house services includes:
• Reablement services
• Hostel Accommodation
• Residential Care
• Life Events

140



• The Demand led budget is spent on the following client groups; Older People, 
Mental Health, Physical Disability, Sensory Impairment, Carers and Substance 
Misuse.

• The community care budget of £48.9m equates to 68% of the overall Health & Adult 
Social Care budget. The budget (excluding external funding from health partners) is 
spent over the following care types:

• Residential Care
• Nursing Care
• Home Support
• Direct Payments
• Other (Shared Lives, Day Care, Supported Living)

Demand led budget

141



Public Health:
• 2022/23 Gross Budget 

£23.574m

• Funded by:
o £21.661m Public Health Grant
o £1.791m Third Party contributions
o £0.122m BHCC General Fund

Public Health & the Better Care Fund

The Better Care fund:
• 2022/23 Gross Budget 

£35.019m
o £22.724m NHS Minimum 

contribution
o £2.313m Disabled Facilities 

Grant
o £9.459m Improved Better Care 

fund
o £0.523m BHCC General Fund

142



• The current savings target for the HASC directorate is £3.097m 

• Saving proposals to achieve this target are as follows: 
• Reducing demand and costs in the Community Care budget through:

• Managing demand
• Technology enabled care
• Focus on prevention
• Commissioning Strategy

• Health funding for Hospital Social Work posts
• No inflationary increase to block contracts
• Rental of unused space within Wayfield Avenue in-house residential unit
• Increasing long-term beds and client contributions within Ireland Lodge in-house residential 
unit

• Section 75 review
• Seeking alternative funding of non-statutory community advocacy and Community Support 
Worker contract

2023/24 Savings plan

143



• There is a remaining budget gap for 2023/24 of £8.3m across the Council.

• This is not unusual at the draft budget stage and Finance will be working 
with the Administration to look at all possible options for closing the 
budget gap through other means. 

• It remains possible however, that more savings options may need to come 
forward for February Policy & Resources Committee and Budget Council.

Remaining budget gap

144



Managing the budget in this environment with future demographic projections suggesting increasing 
demand and complexity and more recently the volatility of market prices becomes ever more 
challenging. 
Current challenges:
• Longer life expectancy/reduced healthy life expectancy
• Capacity to service pathways e.g. homecare, RSCH still building further 80 beds
• Impacts of Living with Covid
• Nature of demand and complexity, increasing acuity – e.g. mental health/ hospital discharges
• Market management and current resilience –e.g. workforce – R&R, sickness, system impacts and 

opportunity
• Long term planning without long term financial settlement
• Self funders and legislative changes, charging reforms from 2025 etc
• Opportunity to explore 3-4yr funding settlement with ICS and raise profile

Current challenges/pressures

145



• CQC is introducing a new approach to assessments in Adult Social Care in 
January 2023

• As part of the assessments Inspections were due to start nationally in Local 
Authorities from April 2023 – this has now been ‘revised’ with new timelines. 

“Towards the end of 2023 we’ll gradually start to carry out assessments in the 
new way.”
• The revised timeline has given a good opportunity to progress our preparation 
for the start of inspections

• As part of preparation we continue to work with Local Partners, ADASS and our 
‘Buddy Authorities’ (Isle of Wight and Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead)

CQC Inspection

146



 

1 
 

The following table describes various health and social care projects that Healthwatch Brighton and Hove is currently working on or actively planning. The 

information contained is accurate as of 10 January 2023. Should you require any further information, please contact 

lester@healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk 

Project Detail Reporting 
(target date) 

In progress 
1. Access to GP 

appointments 
across Sussex – 
public opinion 

Summary 
This was run as a Healthwatch in Sussex project, which is a collaboration between the three Healthwatch 
teams in Sussex. The project was led by Healthwatch Brighton and Hove. 
 
The aim of this project was to assess people’s views about accessing GP appointments and, for some 
questions, to see whether people’s views and experiences about remote GP appointments have changed 
two years since the pandemic began (by comparing some findings from a project undertaken in June 
2020).  
 
An online survey was live during November 2022 and achieved 851 responses. As the survey was a re-run 
of a similar one delivered in June 2020, during the heart of the COVID pandemic, we were able to 
compare some findings. 
 
Impact 
The results from this work will support our ICS’s understanding of how people access GP services and 
their preferences for doing so, which can be used to further develop the remote appointment offer and 
identify how best to promote the range of services and what support people require in order to do that. 
 
Some headlines: 
 

• There are a sizeable proportion (53.7%) of people describing themselves as having their ‘day-to-day 
activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at 
least 12 months’ – up from 39.2% in 2020. Those reporting a mental health condition had increased 
from 17.9% in 2020 (among those reporting a disability) compared to 28.7% in 2022. 
 

January 2023 

147

mailto:lester@healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk
https://www.healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk/report/2020-10-14/accessing-health-and-care-services-%E2%80%93-findings-during-coronavirus-pandemic


 

2 
 

• A hybrid system of appointments, remote and face-to-face when needed, is the most appealing 
option for GP patients, some 25 percentage points ahead of the next preferred option (appointments 
by phone). 
 

• Around 1 in 6 people objected to all remote options and preferred exclusively face-to-face 
appointments.  
 

• Compared to the earlier survey in 2020, a greater proportion of people showed some criticism 
towards remote GP appointments – more agreeing that ‘only having phone or video appointments 
with my GP would put me off from getting support’ and less agreeing that ‘I think you can get just as 
much advice from a GP by phone or video compared to a face-to- face’.  
 

• A significant proportion (over 50%) of people have delayed or postponed appointments with their GP 
and have sought alternative advice from Accident and Emergency departments, NHS111 and the NHS 
App. Waiting times to contact the surgery, or appointments only available a few days or weeks away 
compounds this issue.  
 

• Most people showed a strong preference to having appointments as soon as possible and having a 
more precise time when they will receive a phone or video call, overriding the preference to see their 
regular GP. A preference to see a GP as soon as possible increased significantly between 2020 and 
2022. 
 

• Differences by age were a consistent theme in the data. Older people were less likely to use an online 
booking system, less likely to prefer remote appointments, and saw less importance in being able to 
book a phone and/or video appointment via an online booking method. These differences by age 
were also present in the 2020 report and show evidence of an ongoing variation in opinion. 

2. Access to GP 
appointments 
across Sussex – 
public opinion 

Building on the above survey 
 
Open-ended questions from the above survey have generated over 1000 comments. These are being 
thematically analysed to explain some of the quantitative findings. This work is being led by Healthwatch 
Brighton and Hove. 
 

April 2023 

148



 

3 
 

3. People’s views 
of Direct 
Payments 

This funded work is being delivered by Healthwatch Brighton and Hove for Brighton and Hove City 
Council. 
 
The aim of the survey is to assess various aspects of the Direct Payment system, including ease of 
applying, useful sources of advice, and experience of recruiting and being supported by Personal 
Assistants. 
 
Direct payments are local authority funds which allow a person to employ a care worker or personal 
assistant to help with their day-to-day needs.  

April 2023 

4. The dementia 
pathway across 
Sussex – patient 
and care 
experience 

This is funded work delivered for Sussex Health and Care.  
 
This will be run as a Healthwatch in Sussex project, which is a collaboration between the three 
Healthwatch teams in Sussex. The project will be led by Healthwatch Brighton and Hove. 
 
The project aims to interview 45 people across Sussex, including both people with dementia and their 
carers. 
 
The project will explore the pathway from initial concerns about memory loss, seeing the Memory 
Assessment service, post diagnostic support and transitions (such as in and out of hospital, and admitted 
into a care home).  
 
We will present our findings to Sussex Health and Care so that these can be used to make 
recommendations to improve services. 
 

May 2023 

5. Maternity and 
mental health 
support 

This work is funded by Healthwatch England for whom maternity is a priority area. 
 
Healthwatch Brighton and Hove interviewed 5 mothers who had at least one child born after March 2020. 
All mothers had experienced mental health challenges during the perinatal period (pregnancy through to 
babies first year). Through our interviews, we have looked at the mental health support they received or 
were offered during the perinatal period and what they would recommend to others in a similar 
experience.  
 

Pilot – February 
2023.  
 
Larger study – 
October 2023 
(TBC). 

149

https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/news/2022-12-08/our-position-maternity-care


 

4 
 

We have worked in partnership with Maternity Voices Partnership and others to deliver this project, 
receiving support from University Hospitals Sussex NHS Trust.  
 
We will be submitting our results to Healthwatch England shortly. 
 
What has become apparent through this project is the need to expand this engagement to other mothers 
and fathers across Sussex. We have developed an outline project scope and are exploring options to 
deliver this. Maternal health is identified as an area where health inequalities exist (CORE20PLUS5) and 
local maternity services at our Trust received a poor CQC inspection in the summer 2022, so our work can 
support wide-ranging improvements. 
 

6. Healthwatch 
Annual Report 

It is a statutory requirement that Healthwatch Brighton and Hove produces an Annual Report, published 
by 30 June 
 

30 June  
2023. 

7. Home care 
checks 

This project is funded by Trust for Developing Communities and delivered on behalf of Brighton and Hove 
City Council.  
 
The project was reimagined into our nationally recognised Hospitals Discharge Project during the 
pandemic to support people who were recently discharged but has now been re-established in its original 
format. 
 
The project involves trained Healthwatch volunteers interviewing people in their home or in extra care 
homes to explore their views and experiences about their care (the project was formerly known as the 
Lay Assessors project).  
 
We submit anonymous data to BHCC who use this to identify where improvements, or changes are 
needed. 
 

Ongoing 

8. Environmental 
Audits of 
University 
Sussex 

Our visits to the University Hospitals Sussex estate use our Enter & View powers. 
 
With the full support of the Trust, our trained volunteers conduct lay checks of the ward environment 
using the NHS 15-step challenge as a guide. Our findings are reported back via the Trust’s Director of 
Patient Experience and Engagement and result in direct improvements being made.  

Ongoing 

150



 

5 
 

Hospitals and 
PLACE1.  

 
The pandemic had prevented our visits, but in July 2022 we conducted our first relaunched visit. We 
followed this work up by supporting UHSx and Sussex Partnership Foundation Trust to undertake their 
more extensive PLACE visits in September and October.  
 
We plan to hold a further round of visits to maternity wards across Brighton and Hove and West Sussex 
with the support of Healthwatch West Sussex and Maternity Voices Partnership. 
 
 

9. Dentistry Healthwatch Brighton and Hove have been heavily involved in raising issues affecting NHS dentistry since 
the pandemic. We have conducted surveys and dentist website reviews, produced a leaflet for patients 
on their rights and guidance about dental care, and highlighted local concerns in Parliament by working 
with a local MP. 
 
In January, all three Healthwatch teams jointly launched a survey to understand what – if anything – has 
improved since changes to dentistry were announced at the start of December 2022.  
 
A further survey for people who were pregnant and what their experiences were like e.g. what was their 
experience like of using a Maternity Exemption Certificate to access dental care.   
 
In addition, a desktop review of the NHS website is being conducted as from December 2022, all 
practices are now required to update their information and availability so it will be interesting to see 
which practices have responded to that call. 
 
Healthwatch teams in Sussex will be meeting with the ICS lead for dentistry shortly to discuss our  
findings and  how we can support the commissioning of services.  
 
 
 
 
 

Ongoing 

 
1 Patient-Led Assessments of the Care Environment  

151



 

6 
 

Potential new projects 
1. Delivering a 

toolkit to 
support a 
wellbeing check 
for people 
recently 
discharged 
from hospital.  

Healthwatch Brighton and Hove delivered wellbeing checks for people recently discharged from hospital 
from April 2020 to June 2022. Our project was nationally recognised, receiving a Commendation from 
Healthwatch England and praise from our local NHS Trust.  
 
From the experience of speaking to over 4000 people we wanted to deliver a toolkit to support others in 
setting up this offer. It will include detail on managing patient lists, dealing with data protection, 
reporting findings from the conversations and a guide for volunteers delivering the calls. We are applying 
for funding to support us in this work.  

November 2023. 

2. Outpatient 
Transformation: 
Deliberative 
Engagement of 
Patient 
Experience. 

We have submitted an Expression of Interest to deliver a deliberative engagement project and are 
awaiting to hear from NHS Sussex. 
 
This project will focus on the Sussex-wide transformation of Outpatient services, including obtaining 
patient views, thoughts, ideas and experiences of Patient Initiated Follow-ups (PIFU), Single Points of 
Access and Diagnostic Hubs, Advice and Guidance, and Reducing ‘Did Not Attends.’ The aim will be to 
obtain patient insight to improve communications on these initiatives to help people engage with them 
and support their success. This work directly supports efforts to reduce planned 3 care waiting lists. 
 

Unknown but 
would take 4 
months. 

3. Maternal 
mental health 

As referenced above, we are aiming to build on our pilot project (above) and are seeking support from 
across NHS Sussex to deliver a wider project examining maternal health. 

Unknown but 
would take 6 
months. 

 

152


	Agenda
	28 Minutes
	32 Member Involvement
	33 Southern Water: Flood Overflow Management
	34 Sussex Health & Care: System Development and Governance
	35 Sussex Integrated Care Strategy
	Sussex Integrated Care Strategy APX. n 1
	Sussex Integrated Care Strategy APX. n 2
	BHCC HOSC Item 38 - Implementing the Sussex Integrated Care Strategy.Final (003)

	36 BHCC Health & Adult Social Care Budget Pressures
	37 Healthwatch Brighton & Hove: Current and Planned Activities

